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As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended, | hereby certify that this XX nomination
[7] request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the National Register of
Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60. In my opinion, the property
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0 nationally [ statewide @ locally. ([:I See continuation sheet for additional comments.)
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Asheville School

Name of Property

Buncombe Co., North Carolina
County ang State

5. Classification

Ownership of Property Category of Property
(Check as many boxes as apply) (Check onty cne box)
A private . O building(s)
O public4ocal x & district
(O public-State O site
J public-Federal 7 structure
CJ object

Name of related multiple property listing
(Enter "N/A" it property is not part of a multiple property listing.)

N/A

Number of Resources within Property
(Co not include previousiy listed resources in the count.)

Contributing Noncontributing
10 4 buildings
1 1 sites
7 > structures
- objects
18 10 Total

Number of contributing resources previously listed
in the National Register

-0-

6. Function or Use

Historic Functions
(Enter categories from instructions)

EDUCATION: School

Current Functions
(Enter categories from instructions)

EDUCATTION - Schaool

7. Description

Architectural Classification
(Enter categories from instructions)
Tudor Revival

Art Deco

Narrative Description

- other

Materials
(Enter categories from instructions)

foundation _brick

walls brick
granite

roof asphalt
limestone

(Cescribe the histeric and current condition of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)

See continuation sheets
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Summary

Asheville School is located on the west side of the city of Asheville. The heavily
wooded perimeter of the campus is surrounded by Highway 19/23 (Patton Avenue) on
the northwest, a Southern Railroad line on the southwest, Interstate 40 on the south, Sand
Hill Road on the southeast, and Malvern Hills subdivision on the northeast. (see aerial
photo 1) The campus is comprised of approximately 276 acres, with a winding entrance
road leading uphill from Highway 19/23 into the core of the campus, where the greatest
concentration of contributing buildings are located. The entrance to this road is
demarcated by a stone retaining wall, built in the 1950s when Highway 19/23 was
widened to the current four lanes. Lining this entrance road are native evergreen
plantings, many of them planted in the 1930s when Chauncey Beadle, landscape gardener
for the Biltmore Estate, donated his design services to the school. To the west of the
main entrance road is a cemetery, not historically or currently part of the school's
property, but part of this nomination since it is completely surrounded by land owned by
the school. On the southern edge of the property is the lakebed, now infilled with low
shrubs and pines. This was the location of the lake which was an important part of the
athletics program at Asheville School from its founding until the dam could no longer be
maintained and the lake was drained in 1987. Continuing on the main drive, heading
south, is Kehaya House to the west and the faculty duplexes, also to the west of the road.
The main entrance road wraps around towards the southeast, between the Headmaster's
Cottage and the Bement Guest House, at the edge of the main campus. A branch road
breaks away at this point, to the southeast, leading to the rear semi-circular entrance drive
of the Bement Guest House, and continuing into the wooded area to a gravel and dirt
road which leads to the stables. The main drive continues up the hill in front of the three
main administration/classroom/dormitory buildings. These three main buildings are
located roughly in a straight line which runs from northwest to southeast, on a ridge near
the northwest side of the grounds, at the center of the property. All three buildings face
the athletic facilities located in the fields which slope away towards the southwest, and
unobstructed views towards Mt. Pisgah. An elliptical green space with a circular drive
is located in front of Anderson and Lawrence Halls. This drive breaks away towards the
southwest, leading slightly downhill to the Crawford Music House and Rodgers
Memorial Athletic Center. This secondary loop road completely encloses Boyd Chapel,
which is set among a large, grassy area. A series of walkways connects the three main
buildings with all others in this grouping, with walkways to the rear of Anderson Hall
leading to the Headmaster's Cottage and the carriage house. Additional contributing
buildings are closely massed around these buildings, with the only non-contributing
building in this cluster being the new Rodgers Memorial Athletic Center located below
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this ridge in the fields to the southeast. (See aerial photo 2) The majority of
contributing buildings are of the Tudor Revival style, dating from 1900 to 1947. The
exception to this architectural style is the Art Deco Boyd Chapel, built in 1928. A new
girls dormitory, Kehaya House, built in 1990, is located to the northeast of the main
core of historic buildings, and the Walker Arts Center, a new arts and student center,
dating from 1982 and 1993, is located in the footprint of the 1912 Perkins Gymnasium,
to the northeast of Lawrence Hall. Overall, the Asheville School campus retains a high
degree of integrity, and shows an evolving campus which began with the original three
buildings located on a ridge high above the fields, to the additional support structures,
classroom buildings, and faculty housing which was built in the later part of the
school's period of significance. With the exception of the Rodgers Memorial Athletic
Center, all new construction within the last twenty years has been placed on the fringes
of the main core of historic buildings, or on a secondary ridge to the northeast. This
siting of buildings has helped to retain the original, unobstructed views to the
southwest. In addition, most of the original site upon which the school was built has
remained as school property, including the lake area to the south of the buildings and
athletic fields, and appears today much as it did originally, with the exception of the
lake no longer serving as a functional athletic facility.

1. Landscape. Contributing site. 1900-1946.

The entire campus is included in the historic district boundary, since the land currently
associated with the property was also part of the property historically. The original
campus consisted of approximately 397 acres, while the current property is
approximately 276 acres. Lands to the north, east, and south have been sold since the
mid-1920s, but the historic core of the campus, including the original lake bed and
portions of the original wooded area to the west, are still part of the current campus.

Much of the land to the north of the current campus which was part of the school until
at least the 1950s is currently Highway 19/23 and commercial highway buildings. To
the northeast, Malvern Hills subdivision is located in an area that was originally part of
the campus. This subdivision was developed by one of Asheville School's founders,
Newton Anderson, in the mid-1920s. He assembled some land not part of the
Asheville School, and also sold some of the land from the School in order to develop
Malvern Hills. Only a small portion of this development ever happened in the 1920s,
but the roads were laid out and a few houses were built. Most of the neighborhood was
completed in the 1960s. The land to the southeast, which now is newer subdivisions
along Sand Hill Road, was also originally part of the campus. Land along the south
side of the property, now subdivisions and Interstate-40, was also part of Asheville
School originally. The western boundary of the property is changed very little from its
original configuration. The entrance into the property is by way of a curving, tree-
lined road, originally Cranesway Drive, and now called Asheville School Road. When
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Highway 19/23 (Patton Avenue) was widened in the mid-1950s, this entrance road was
redone and the current stone retaining wall structure was built. To the east of this entry
road, and curving around in a hook configuration to the southeast, is a wooded area
bought in 1995 by Asheville School, Inc. to serve as a buffer at the entrance to the
campus. The entry road winds around to the south along what has historically been
known as "Faculty Row" and then turns west into the central core of the campus.
Roads leading to the various buildings are curving, with large evergreens and hardwood
trees dotting the grassy areas between the roads. Chauncey Beadle, head landscape
architect for the Biltmore Estate, and step-father to two boys who attended Asheville
School, donated his services in 1934 to the School. His plans included a
reconfiguration of the entrance road which runs north-south from Highway 19/23 and
then turns in an east-west direction from in front of the Headmaster's Cottage to the
front of the administration buildings. This plan was implemented by the School in the
1930s, along with individual landscape plantings for the Crawford Music House and the
Bement House. Most of the foundation plantings which Beadle designed for these two
buildings are gone. However, many of the large evergreen trees along the entrance
road are still intact. Casual undefined fields to the south of the central core of the
campus were developed very early in the school's history as athletic facilities. (See
aerial photo 3) These are still in use today as soccer, baseball, hockey, and football
fields, with a track surrounding the football field. A three-foot chain link fence
surrounds the track area. New tennis courts were added in this same general area in
the early 1980s, with a fence structure surrounding them, approximately ten feet in
height. Despite this height, the green chain link fence disappears into the landscape.
To the southeast of the Bement House, down a gravel and dirt road, are two new
stables and a riding ring. Also on the south side of the campus is the lake bed for Lake
Ashnoca. This lakebed is the location of the original lake which was historically
associated with the school and utilized until 1987, when the dam was no longer
maintained and the lake was drained. This lake played a major role in the physical
education of the students, serving as the site of a variety of athletic endeavors of the
students including swimming instruction and a crew team. (See aerial photo 4) A
series of roads leads to the north side of this lake bed, all that was ever developed from
a proposed sub-division in the late 1920s known as Asheville School Estates. The
former dam for the lake is still visible at the southeast corner of the property from Sand
Hill Road. The lake bed itself is still visible as a large clearing. although smaller
scrubby undergrowth and pine trees have started to infill the area. There is a
boathouse, located on the north side of the lake, near the eastern edge. To the south

and west sides of the property is a large wooded area which buffers the main campus
from I-40 and Highway 19/23.

Contributing Structures Within the Landscape:

1A: Road Network 1D: Baseball Field
1B:  Hockey Field 1E:  Football Field
1C:  Soccer Field 1F: Dam & Lakebed

Noncontributing Structures Within the Landscape:

1G: Track 1H: Tennis Courts
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2. Cemetery. Non-contributing site. 1845-1980s.

This cemetery, while containing markers dating back as early as 1845, was never part of
the Asheville School campus, and is therefore non-contributing to the significance of this
nomination. Historically, it was owned by the Henry family of the Hominy Valley, but
in recent years has been in the ownership and care of a local church, Acton United
Methodist Church, designated as trustees for the property. This three-acre clearing is
located to the west of the main entrance road into-the Asheville School campus, near
Highway 19/23. It sits on a hill above the road and is completely surrounded by a
wooded area owned by Asheville School. A dirt and gravel access road leads to it from
the school's entrance road. Some of the family names visible in the cemetery include
Lovelace, Fox, Moore, Taylor, Hutsell, Henry, Hyatt, Hawkins, Gudger, and Kelly.
Many of the graves are unmarked, with only granite stones protruding above the ground
to denote a burial site.

Building/structure inventory runs primarily from the north to the south side of the
campus:

3. Lawrence Hall, Contributing building. 1907.

Lawrence Hall is the third of the main campus buildings constructed soon after the
school's founding. Its location adjacent to the Walker Arts Center (#4) provides a
northern terminus for the building complex.  While not fully documented, it is likely
that this building, as well as Mitchell Hall (#6) and the Headmaster's Cottage (#13) were
designed by John Milton Dyer of Cleveland, Ohio. School records indicate he definitely
designed Anderson Hall (#11), the first building on the campus. Stylistically these other
buildings are in keeping with Anderson, so Dyer probably was involved in their design as
well. Funding for its construction came from the M.J. Lawrence family of Cleveland,
Ohio, in memory of their son Percy Lawrence (Class of 1906). Originally this building
was known as "Senior House". It is a long, linear building set on a ridge which runs
north-south, and is oriented towards the southwest and the view towards the athletic
fields and Mt. Pisgah beyond.  This ridge drops away sharply to the northwest,
providing for a lowered area and an above-ground basement level on the northwest
elevation of the building. The building was originally used as a dormitory, which it
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remains today, along with some administrative offices on the lower floor. The three-
story-plus- basement building is a Tudor Revival style with a hip roof, exposed rafter
ends, and hip roof dormers. Dormer walls are half-timbered. The basement, first and
second story walls are brick, while the third is half-timbered. Window sills and lintels
are limestone. The exterior of the building is primarily intact, except for the replacement
of windows in the 1980s. The windows currently are one-over-one double hung, in
single, doubles, and triples. All first floor windows are slightly taller than the other
floors. A three-story addition at the northwest corner, built ca. 1965, and named Clarke
House, replaces a wraparound porch which was there originally. This addition is housing
for faculty and their families.

Beginning with the southwest or front elevation, there are a total of twenty bays. Bays
1 and 2 comprise Clarke House, and project out from the building to the southwest. Bay
1 on all levels have one-over-one single windows, and Bay 2 has triple windows. Bays 3
and 4 of the building forms the southeast elevation of Clarke House, with single and
double one-over-one windows. Bay 5 begins the original section of the building. At the
-basement level is the front door which is six-panel surrounded by a limestone frame.
The first floor has double one-over-one windows, and the second and third floors are
single one-over-one windows. Bays 6, 8, 10, 12, and 14 are all the same, with all levels
having double one-over-one windows. Bays 7,9, 11, 13, and 15 are the same, with brick
at the basement level, and double one-over-one windows on the upper three floors. An
attached porch projects out to the southwest in front of Bays 16-19 of the building.
Porch details are the same as on Anderson Hall (#11). Steps are to the sides of the porch,
and the roof is slightly hipped. The entire porch structure is raised on brick piers with
lattice between them, used for storage areas under the porch. Bay 16 at the basement is
the entry to the library. The door here is a double door with small square lights. The
first floor, at the porch level, is the main entry to the building. The door is a single light
over a panel, with sidelights and a transom. The second and third floors have double
one-over-one windows. Bay 17, at the basement, has smaller double one-over-one
windows. The remaining floors have double one-over-one windows. Bay 18 is the same
as Bay 15. Bay 19 has no windows at the basement level. Bay 20 comprises the stair
tower which was added to the building between 1917 and 1925 (Sanborn maps). This
tower recedes back slightly from the front elevation of the building. It is four stories plus
a basement, with a hip roof. The basement has a door only, the first floor is brick, the
second and third floors have openings where windows were originally placed, and the
fourth floor is a solid half-timbered wall with no windows. The southeast elevation of
the building consists of three bays. Bay 1 at the basement has smaller, double one-over-
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and third have smaller double windows. Bays 2 and 3 project out to the southeast, as part
of the stair tower, with a concrete stair structure at the front. The northeast or rear
elevation has a total of 19 bays. Bay 1 is the stair tower, which projects slightly to the
northeast. As on other elevations, it is four stories plus a basement. Between the first
and second, and second and third floors are openings for single one-over-one windows.
The fourth floor has double two-over-two windows, which are original to the building.
Bays 2-4 project slightly to the northeast. Bay 2 has double one-over-one windows on all
three floors.  Bays 3 and 4 are the same, with small double one-over-one windows at
the basement, and larger double windows on the remaining floors. The only exception to
this is that on Bay 3 the first floor has a single one-over-one window opening which has
been infilled with brick. Bays 5-7 are the same as Bay 4. Bays 8, 12, 14, and 16 are the
same, with double one-over-one windows on the first, second, and third floors, and brick
at the basement level with no window openings. Bay 9 at the basement has a single
small one-over-one window opening infilled with brick, and double windows on the
remaining floors. Bay 10 has a five-panel door at the basement, and double windows on
the remaining floors. Bays 11, 13, and 15 are the same, with double windows on all
three levels. Bays 16 and 17 continue the southeast elevation of Clarke House. Bays 18
and 19 are the northeast elevation of Clarke House, with Bay 18 consisting of small one-
over-one windows at the basement only, and no other window openings. Bay 19 has a
double window at the basement, and no other openings. The northwest elevation is all
Clarke House, a full four stories plus basement. Itis seven bays total. Bays 1 and 2 have
covered parking at the sub-basement level, and double windows at the first floor only.
Bays 3, 6, and 7 are essentially the same as Bays 1 and 2, with small single windows at
the basement level. Bays 4 and 5 are the same, with parking at the basement level, and
double windows on all other floors.

4. Walker Arts Center/Sharp Hall/Tyrer Center, Non-contributing building.
1912, 1982, 1993.

Located at the northern terminus of the main complex of buildings, the Walker Arts
Center/Sharp Hall/Tyrer Center is a compound building facility erected in stages on a
former athletic facility which was composed of a gymnasium and ball courts. While
completely renovated, this building retains an unusual assymetrical footprint. The two
sections of the one and one-half story building with front gable roofs are angled slightly
towards each other. The main entrance door is located between these two wings. The
brick plaza, located at the main or southwest elevation of the building, was added when
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the current renovations were completed.  The northern portion of this building, larger
than the newer southern section, currently houses the Walker Arts Center and still retains
the brick walls of the original 1912 Perkins Gymnasium which was located on the same
site as this building. All of the front facade of the building, which faces southwest, has
been completely remodeled, removing the original grid system of transom type windows.
The rooms currently used for music and art studios on the northernmost part of the
building originally housed the squash courts, and the Walker Arts Theater was the
original basketball court. The southern portion of the building was also originally part of
the gymnasium complex and housed the apparatus and wrestling room. This section,
including the swimming pool to the southeast, was completely torn down to build the
current dining hall (Sharp Hall) and student center (Tyrer Center). While the entire
building fits the same footprint of the Perkins Gym and is a sensitive new structure, all of
the original portions of the building have been sufficiently reworked to make this a non-
contributing building. Dalton and Shook of Charlotte, NC designed the Walker Arts
Center (1982), and Phil Shive, also of Charlotte, designed Sharp Hall/Tyrer Center
(1993).

5. Crawford Music House, Contributing building. 1937.

Designed by Asheville architect Anthony Lord, this simple, one room, one-story building
was built as the music house for the campus with funds donated to the school by John M.
Crawford (Class of 1933). This simple, one-story Tudor Revival style building consists
of an entry hall and a single large room. The side gable roof is slate, and walls are brick
with multi-light casement windows. It has a brick end chimney. Cedar and hollies
surround the foundation of the building. Chauncey Beadle worked with Mr. Lord in
planning the original landscape for the building, but most of this no longer exists. It is
sited towards the southwest of the campus building complex, with views out over the
athletic fields. The southwest or front elevation is two bays wide. Bay 1 consists of a
bay window with a fixed multi-light window in the center, and casement windows on the
sides. Bay 2 is the front door which is a beaded vertical board design surrounded by a
molded door frame, and an iron wall sconce which was designed by Anthony Lord. A
brick patio projects out to the southwest in front of the door. The southeast elevation is
one bay wide. An off-centered double casement window with a molded frame and brick
sill is located at the easternmost side of the elevation. Dentil blocks are located about
halfway up into the gable, the same as on Memorial Hall (#9). The northeast or rear
elevation faces the other campus buildings. It is two bays wide. Bay 1 has a door and
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wall sconce the same as on the front of the building, and Bay 2 has a double casement
window. The northwest elevation is predominated by an end chimney with projecting
decorative brick in a diamond pattern above the shoulder of the chimney. Dentil blocks
divide the shoulder from the stack of the chimney. The chimney is corbeled at the top.
There are two bays on this elevation. Bay 1 at the easternmost corner has a multi-light
over panel door into the basement, and Bay 2 has a triple light rectangular window at the
basement level. Inside, the building continues the Tudor Revival style, but also includes
many Arts & Crafts details. An entry hall runs from the southwest to the northeast of the
building, with doors to the exterior on either end. A rope design crown molding, milled
in South Carolina, and probably the same molding as is used in Memorial Hall (#9), is
visible in the entry area. The light fixture is original, and there is a closet on the
southeast wall with double vertical panel doors. Floors here and throughout the building
are oak. In the main performance/listening room, entered from the hall through double,
vertical panel doors, the ceiling consists of exposed trusses and rafters, with acoustical
tile panels between the rafters. Frank Arthur, an artisan who worked in the vocational
arts program at Asheville School, and who was also associated with the Artisan's
Workshop in Biltmore Forest, carved the frieze over the fireplace as well as the cabinet
on the northeast wall. William Dodge crafted a silver plaque in memory of Howard
Bement, which hangs on the northeast wall. The rope crown molding continues into this
room. The wainscot in the room consists of tall, beaded boards which vary between wide
and narrow panels. Walls above the wainscot are rough plaster. The window seat on the
southwest wall is original. The fireplace wall on the northwest wall of the room retains
its original paneling and bookcases on either side of the mantel. The mantel area projects
slightly into the room, with paneling above the fireplace, and the Frank Arthur frieze in
the center of the mantel consisting of a grapevine motif. On either side of this carved
frieze are long, vertical panels with fluting above them. The mantel shelf is very narrow
with wood dentil blocks just below it. The hearth is a herringbone brick pattern, also like
Memorial Hall.

6. Mitchell Hall, Contributing building. 1903.

Originally called "The School", all classrooms and offices were moved from Anderson
Hall (#11) into this building upon its completion. The second of the main buildings built
on the campus, this building, located south of Lawrence Hall (#3) and the Walker Arts
Center (#4), faces the southwest towards the fields and Mt. Pisgah. While not
documented, it is likely that John Milton Dyer designed this building. It is a long, linear
plan, with porches on the front and rear of the building. It is primarily a two-story plus
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basement in height, with a center projecting portion which is three stories plus a
basement. Walls on the lower floors are brick, with half-timbering on the uppermost
floor. Sills and lintels of the windows are limestone, with the sills forming a continuous
band around the building, dividing the basement level from the first floor. The roof is
hip, and all windows are 1980s replacements of the original, unless noted otherwise. The
current windows, like those of Lawrence and Anderson halls, are one-over-one double
hung style. The southwest or front elevation of the building is fifteen bays wide. Bay
1, at the northwest corner, is a two-story stair tower, added to the building in the 1960s.
Single windows with wavy glass intact are placed within the tower. Bays 2-6 are the
same, with double windows on every floor. Bays 7-9 forms the central entry area. Bay 7
at the basement and first floor level has a triple window, with double windows on the
second and third floors. Bay 8 at the basement consists of double doors with a long,
single light. The first floor entry doors are also double, each a single light over a panel,
with a transom above. The original single windows on either side of the door have been
retrofitted. Bay 9 is the same as Bay 7. Projecting to the southwest in front of these
three central bays is the attached front porch with a hip roof and exposed rafter ends.
Floors and ceiling of the porch are narrow boards. Balusters are 2 x 2's, with a beveled
banister. Round columns set on a raised base are in pairs on either side of the stairs.
Single columns support the roof structure elsewhere around the porch. Columns are
molded at the top and bottom. Corners of the porch are brick piers, with columns
adjacent to them. Above the columns is a paneled frieze and paneled soffits are located
between the columns. The entire porch is raised above the basement level, and is
supported on brick piers and wooden arches. The front stairs project out to the front of
the porch, with two side concrete staircases covered by a high brick cheek wall leading
to a central landing. This stair structure was built in 1938, but originally the wooden
staircase was a single one projecting straight out from the porch. Bays 10-14 of the
southwest elevation are the same, with double windows on every floor. Bay 15 is the
stair tower on the southeast side of the building, also added in the 1960s. The southeast
elevation is two bays wide. Bay 1 is the projecting brick wall of the stair tower, with
half-timbering at the upper level. Bay 2 at the basement has double windows. The first
floor is brick, and the second is half-timbered walls, with no windows. The northeast or
rear elevation faces onto the newer quad area which runs in a northeastern direction
with Kehaya House (#7) at the end. This elevation is fourteen bays wide. Bay 1 is the
two-story stair tower, with a six-panel double door at the basement level, and a single,
narrow window on the first floor. Bays 2-6 are the same, and are identical to Bays 2-6
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on the front of the building. Bays 7-9 are three stories plus a basement, also like on the
front of the building. A new porch facing the quad area, which is an exact duplicate of
the front porch, projects out to the northeast in front of these three bays. Bay 7 of the
building has two single windows at the basement, a triple window on the first, and
double windows on the second and third floors. Bay 8 has a new entry door at the
basement level, reached by concrete semi-circular steps. The door is a single light with
paneled framing, with stucco infill on either side. The first floor of this bay is a new rear
doorway, with infill around it. There are no windows on the second floor. The third
floor has a quadruple window, with the two center windows having been converted into a
single fixed pane, and one-over-one windows on either side. Bay 9 on the basement and
first floor has triple windows, and double windows on the second and third. Bays 10-14
are all the same with double windows, except Bay 10 at the second floor has a single
window. Bay 1 of the northwest elevation is the same as the southeast elevation, except
a double fire door to the stair tower is located at the lower floor. Bay 2 of this elevation
has a single window, now bricked in, at the basement level, three single windows bricked
in at the first floor, and no windows in the half-timbered wall of the second floor.

7. Kehava House., Non-contributing building. 1990.

Sited to the northeast of the main cluster of historic buildings, this three-story brick
building, in a triangular configuration, with a flat roof, was designed by Phil Shive of
Charlotte. Windows are single two-light panes with transoms above. It currently serves -
as the girls' dormitory.

8. Bovd Chapel. Contributing building. 1928.

The Chapel building is the only Art Deco style building on the school campus. Designed
by Thomas Hibben of Indianapolis, it is an excellent example of the style, utilizing pink
and gray granite from Salisbury, NC, and most likely, Indiana limestone for much of the
carved Art Deco detailing at the cornice of the exterior of the building. The large
timbers used for ceiling rafters were brought from Louisiana. It is one of three new
buildings constructed during the tenure of Howard Bement as headmaster of the school.
(See #15 and #16). The pews, altar, pulpit, and ministers' chairs were hand-crafted by
George Arthur, who taught manual training at Asheville School, and Robert Valier, a
partner of Mr. Arthur in the Artisans' Shop in Biltmore Forest. In 1934, noted local
architect and silversmith William Dodge designed and executed the stained glass chancel
windows and the altar brassworks.
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The building is in a cruciform plan, oriented primarily east-west across from the
administration/classroom buildings, and directly in line with and southwest of Memorial
Hall (#9). It is a tall one story in height, with a bell tower projecting upward at the rear
or west side of the building, and a flat roof. The chapel is surrounded by an open lawn
area filled with large oak and cedar trees. The main entrance to the building is on the
east side, with "William Spencer Boyd Chapel” carved in limestone above the doorway.
This front or east elevation is three bays wide. Bay 1, on the southeast corner, recedes
back slightly from Bay 2, and there is a center panel within this bay which recedes back,
creating a series of vertical panels of rough-faced granite block.  Above these granite
panels is a limestone frieze approximately two feet tall with geometric patterns carved
into it. Bay 2 is the main entry door. The doorway is slightly off-center towards the
north side of the building. This bay projects out to the east. The limestone and granite
block door frame projects out further, creating a definitive entry area. The door frame is
capped by limestone coping approximately one foot tall. The double door recedes back
into the wall plane. It is constructed of vertical panels, with a shallow Tudor arch at the
uppermost part. Projecting out from the door is a limestone arch which echoes that of
the doorway. Set within the soffit of this archway is more carved limestone, in a
diamond pattern. Above the door at the balcony level is a triple stained glass window
with square red and blue panes, recessed into a limestone frame. This is the only original
stained glass in the building. The frieze of Bay 1 continues here, with a limestone
parapet above. Bay 3 is a solid block wall, receding back slightly from Bay 2. The
north elevation is six bays wide, with projecting granite block pilasters dividing the
bays. Each pilaster is capped by a limestone parapet, approximately one foot wide. Bay
1, on the eastern corner, projects out to the north, and is a lower single story. A double,
multi-pane stained glass window is located within this bay, also recessed into a limestone
frame. This window is smaller than others on this elevation. Bays 2, 3, 4, and 6 are all
the same, with long, narrow double stained glass windows of patterned colored glass, all
of which are recessed into limestone frames with steeply sloping limestone sills. Above
each bay is the same geometric limestone frieze as on the front of the building. Bay 5 is
basically the same as the other bays in this elevation, except the pilasters on either side of
the window have narrower, center projecting bands. The bell tower projects up above
this bay. The center of the tower, which houses the bell, has a central limestone arch
with clipped corners, set into a granite block wall, and vertical panels which open into
the tower. This central arch area is surrounded by granite block pilasters, and a
limestone coping above. The west or rear elevation of the building is a single bay wide.
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The bell tower projects up above this bay. The center portion of this bay projects out
slightly to the west. Located within this section is a triple window, set in a recessed
frame. These are the stained glass windows of the chancel which Dodge designed in
1934. The limestone frieze continues on this elevation as well. The south elevation is
six bays wide. Bay 1 recedes from Bay 2. It is a plain granite block wall. Bay 2 is a side
doorway into the building, with the bell tower above. The limestone door frame projects
outward in stepped walls of granite block with limestone coping. The doorway is
basically the same as on the front, but there is no carving in the limestone soffit. This
door is a single door comprised of vertical panels, with the Tudor arch and projecting
limestone arch surrounding it. Bays 3-5 are the same, with pilasters dividing the bays as
on the north elevation. Double, vertical stained glass windows are located within these
bays, as on the north side. Bay 6 projects out to the south. Windows here are not as
large as the others on this elevation. The upper one-third of this elevation is limestone,
capped by the same geometric limestone frieze as on the rest of the building.

The interior of this building continues the Art Deco style of the exterior, with some
Tudor Revival detailing in the boxed beam ceiling and Tudor arches. Floors throughout
the building are terrazzo, with a narrow gold band dividing the panels, and a darker band
of terrazzo projecting up the walls approximately one foot to form baseboards. Walls are
rough plaster, painted white. From the front door on the east side of the building, the
entry is through an entry vestibule, with the sanctuary and altar beyond, towards the
west. To the south side of the entry are stairs which lead to the balcony, and to the north
is a paneled door to an office area. Entry into the sanctuary is through a Tudor arch, into
a center aisle. Originally, there were two side aisles. Pews are a pickled oak with a
pointed arch on each side. All window frames are large recessed areas with segmental
arches at the top, and curving pilasters which divide each double window. The muted
yellow stained glass windows on the sides of the sanctuary closest to the entry vestibule
were placed there in 1929-30, replacing the original darker red and blue glass, and
allowing more light into the sanctuary. Other side windows, with more vivid colors,
were placed there in the 1980s, and the chancel windows were designed by William
Dodge in 1934. All glass is stylized views of mountain scenery. The ceiling of the
sanctuary is a system of exposed heart pine beams and joists of very large timbers, with a
pickled finish. Timbers are hand planed, with the marks still visible. Chandeliers are
original to the building, but have been turned so the bulbs project light down into the
sanctuary, allowing more light. They are very similar to the fixtures used in Memorial
Hall in 1947 (#9). The altar is divided from the sanctuary by a triple Tudor arch
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comprised of one large center arch and two smaller ones supported by octagonal
columns. Another triple arch across a narrow hall running north-south echoes this one
just behind it before the stairs up to the altar. The balustrade at the altar has a trefoil
design carved into it. On either side of this narrow hall are additional single Tudor
arches. Floors at the altar are oak. The organ is not the original one; it was placed here
in 1984. The balcony has terrazzo steps leading to it, but floors in the balcony seating
area are concrete. Pews are the same as below. Wall sconces here are original, and the
only original glass in the building is located here.

9. Memorial Hall, Non-contributing building. 1947.

Memorial Hall was built in honor and memory of the students of Asheville School who
fought in World War II. Even though it completes the trio of buildings designed by
Asheville architect Anthony Lord for the Asheville School campus, it is listed here as a
non-contributing building since it misses by one year falling within the period of
significance.! (See #5 and #17 also) This handsome, architecturally intact, dining hall
replaces the original dining hall, ca. 1900, which was intended to be a "temporary"
structure. David Fall, headmaster of the school at the time, was responsible for seeing
that this building was completed. This Tudor Revival style one and one-half story brick
building with a multiple gable slate roof with decorative brackets is located to the east of
the three original administration/classroom buildings (#3, #6, and #11), and is sited up on
a hill above the grassy quad below. It is oriented in a northeast-southwest direction,
almost directly in line with Boyd Chapel (#8). It is a long, linear plan with a large wing
projecting to the southeast. A curving brick retaining wall is located in line with the
northern elevation of the building. The southeast elevation of Sharp Hall/Tyrer Center
(#4) is visible from the plaza of the Hall, and Kehaya House (#7) is visible to the
northeast. A wooded area separates it from the Faculty Duplexes (#15 and #16) to the
southeast.

The southwest or front elevation of the building faces towards Boyd Chapel and the
fields beyond. It is six bays wide. Bay 1, on the northwest corner, consists of a double
door with multiple lights which have a beveled molding around the lights. Bay 2 is a
large, centrally located multi-light Gothic arch window is in line with the chapel,
probably a purposeful orientation of the building by Anthony Lord. There is a rounded
brick frame around this arched window. Projecting brick pilasters are located on either
side of this central arch.  Approximately one foot above the ground is a water table,
which extends across all of this elevation. Bay 3 is another set of doors like Bay 1.
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Receding back from these three bays is a one story wing which projects to the southeast.
Bay 4 of the southeast elevation is the main entrance into the building, and consists of
double, multi-light doors as described above, with cast iron handles and decorative
escutcheon plates, also designed by Mr. Lord. Bay 5 is a double casement window, with
multiple lights which butts up against the doorway. Bay 6 is smaller multi-light
casement windows with angled brick sills. The southeast elevation is eight bays wide.
The first two bays project out to the southwest of the building, while the third and fourth
bays are wings which project out to the southeast. Receding from this are four additional
bays along the kitchen portion of the building to the rear. Bays 1 and 2 are divided by
projecting brick pilasters. Bay 1 has four multi-light casement windows, and Bay 2 has
two multi-light casement windows. All windows here have transom lights above them.
Bay 3 has a side gable roof with a diamond pattern of pierced brick in the gable, and
dentil blocks at the bottom of the gable at the top of the wall. There are two single multi-
light casement windows in this bay. Bay 4 recedes slightly from Bay 3. There is a row
of five multi-light casement windows here, and a brick chimney which projects above
this bay, dividing this bay from the remaining portion of the elevation. The chimney is
stepped, with brick pilasters all around it and corbeling at the top. The remaining four
bays have a flat roof. Each bay has a double multi-light casement window with the same
sloping brick sills as all other windows. The northeast or rear elevation is five bays
wide. Bays 2-5 have a flat roof punctuated by raised skylights, original to the building.?
Bay 1 has a side gable roof. Bay 1, which projects to the southeast, consists of a multi-
light doorway, which enters into the private dining room. Bay 2, in the kitchen area of
the building, has a small, four-light casement window. Bay 3 has a double casement
window. Bay 4 projects out towards the northeast, and forms the loading area at the rear
of the kitchen. Brick here is slightly different than the rest of the building since this
loading dock was added in the 1960s. Within the recessed area of the loading dock are
double doors on the northeast elevation, and single doors to the southeast and northwest.
Bay 5 recedes back from Bay 4 and has no windows. The northwest elevation drops
down considerably in elevation into the quad area below, and is a full two stories in
height. It is eleven bays wide. Bay 1 recedes back to the southeast, and is a solid brick
one story wall at the loading dock area. Bays 2-6 are two stories in height. Bay 2 at the
first floor level has a small four-light window, and a solid brick wall above. Bay 3 has a
double casement window, and Bay 4 is a paneled garage door with transom lights on the
first floor. Bay 35 is the same as Bay 3, and Bay 6 has a double casement window on the
first floor and a row of four casement windows on the second floor. Bays 7-11 are
divided by projecting brick pilasters. Bay 7 at the first floor level has beveled board
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double doors for deliveries. Tall, multi-light transom windows are above this. On the
second floor of this bay there is a quadrangle casement window. Bays 8-11 are the same,
with quadrangle casement windows on the upper floor, and single, tall sixteen-light
casement windows on the lower floor.

The interior of this building continues much of the Tudor Revival style of the exterior,
but is also an example of detailing in the Arts & Crafts style. The main entry to the
building leads into an entry foyer with a private dining room to the rear, and the main
large dining room to the northwest. There is a six-foot paneled wainscot running around
all the walls in the foyer, with rough plaster walls and ceiling above this. On the
northeast wall of this room are three alcoves which were built as coat closets.  Floors
are scored concrete, in a large grid pattern. The southeast wall of the foyer has paneled
doors which lead to the restrooms located on either side of the memorial plaque in the
center of this wall. This plaque and the light fixture were designed by Anthony Lord.?
A paneled door leads from the foyer to the private dining room at the southeast side of
the building. A lower wainscot and chair rail surround this room, with a fireplace
located on the southeast wall. Original plans called for a floral wood carving above the
fireplace, but apparently this was never built. The remainder of the fireplace, with its
molded surround and herringbone pattern brick hearth were built as drawn.4 The crown
molding in this room is a stylized rope motif as in the Music House (#5), but it has been
painted. Wall sconces are original. A door leads from this room to the exterior of the
building, and double paneled doors lead from this room into the rear of the main dining
room. The main student dining room is reached from the foyer through a wide opening.
Horizontal board wainscot runs around the perimeter of this room, with brick walls
above. The only exception to this is the northeast wall which has vertical board paneling
above the wainscot, and then brick above this. In the center of this wall is another Gothic
arch window, smaller than the one at the front of the building, but directly on axis with
the front. The ceiling in the main dining room is an exposed truss system, with exposed
rafters and acoustical panels between, as in the Music House (#5). A heavy dentil block
crown molding is located around most of this room. Floors here are also scored concrete.
The iron chandeliers in this room were also designed by Anthony Lord.®> The kitchen to
the northeast of the main dining room is reached through a set of paneled double doors.
The floor in this room is tile, and there are a total of six original skylights to allow light
into this space. Walls are plaster. There are two smaller rooms off the kitchen for staff
dining and storage.
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10, Rodgers Memorial Athletic Center, Non-contributing building. 1975.

This reinforced concrete structure with flat and shallow gable roofs replaced the original
Perkins Gymnasium, built in 1912, and later converted into the Walker Arts Center (See
#4 above). It is a low, horizontally oriented building to the southwest of the main
campus. Due to its downgrade setting and low profile, it does not obscure the view to the
south.

11. Anderson Hall. Contributing building. 1900.

This building is the oldest one on the school campus, and was built as the main academic
building. It was designed by John Milton Dyer of Cleveland. It originally was called
"The House", since, like Lawrence Hall, it was built as a dormitory, and also housed
some classrooms until Mitchell Hall was completed in 1903. The building currently is
used as a dormitory, faculty apartments, and an infirmary. Like Lawrence and Mitchell
Halls (#3 and #6), it is a long, linear Tudor Revival style building which runs from north
to south, with the main entrance facing to the west and a grand, oval green space and
circular drive. It is three stories tall, plus a basement, built primarily of brick, with
limestone lintels and sills on the first and second floors. The third floor is half-
timbering, and the walls of the two-story bay windows on the second and third floors are
also half-timbered. Projecting bays on the northwest and southwest ends of the building
have a hip roof, while the center portion of the building has a gable roof punctuated by
shed roof dormers. It has a front porch on both the northwest and southwest ends of the
building. The northwest porch originally wrapped around the side, but was replaced in
1919 with the current stair tower. The porch on the southwest originally was two stories
tall. In 1988, a rear entrance was added. All windows, unless noted otherwise, have
been retrofitted to the current one-over-one double hung configuration.

The west or front elevation is sixteen bays wide. Bay 1, on the northwest corner, is the
stair tower of brick on the basement, first and second floors, with half-timbering on the
third. The basement has a transom window, and the first and second levels have a
recessed opening with a low rail. Across Bays 2-4 is the attached porch projecting to the
west. Details of the porch include square porch posts on paneled bases with molding at
the top and bottom, a simple, 2x2 railing, square cut-work in the spandrels between
posts, a low hipped roof, and carved roof brackets. The entire porch is raised up on brick
piers with lattice between the piers. Behind the porch, Bay 2 on the first floor is a
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doorway with windows on either side and concrete infill around this. The second and
third floors have double windows. Bay 3 has double windows on all three levels. Bay 4
is where the original entrance to the building is located. These are double doors which
are a single light over a panel, and a two-light transom window above. The second floor
has a double window, and the third has two single windows. Above this is a dormer.
Bays 5 and 6 are three stories plus a basement. All levels have single windows. Bays 7,
9, 11, and 13 have double windows at the basement and first floors, and a square bay
window at the second and third floors. The window in this and all other bays are double,
with dormers above. Bays 8, 10, 12, and 14 are the same, with double windows on all
levels, but no projecting bay windows. Across Bays 15 and 16 is the porch at the
southwest corner of the building, which projects to the west and southwest at an angle to
the main block of the building. The details of this porch are the same as on the other end
of the building. Behind the porch, Bay 15 at the first floor level is the entrance to the
current infirmary. These are double doors consisting of a single light over a panel on
each side with a covered transom above. The second floor has a single window, and is
half-timbered, the same as the third floor. Bay 16 has two windows which face towards
the northwest on the first and second floors, which are single one-over-one. The third
floor faces west, with a single window in a half-timbered wall. The southeast elevation
of the porch is two bays wide, with a triple window on the first and second floors of Bay
1, and a single window at the third story. Bay 2 is an enclosed area of the original porch.
The south elevation is four bays wide. Bay 1 at the first floor continues the attached
porch. The second floor is a solid brick wall, and the third floor has a double window in
the half-timbered wall. Bay 2 has double windows on all but the third floor. Bay 3 has
bricked-in openings for smaller windows at the first and second levels, with a smaller
one-over-one window at the third level. Bay 4 recedes back slightly, and has double
windows on all levels. The east or rear elevation is a U-shape configuration. It is
twenty bays wide. Bays 1 and 2 project out to the east slightly, with single windows on
all three levels. The second and third floors still retain original windows of a four-over-
one double hung style. Bays 3 and 4 face north in the "U". Bay 3 at the basement level
has a hip roof covered entry in to the interior stair tower. The door here is five-panel,
and the window on the third floor here is also original. Bay 4 at the basement is a single
one-over-one window, but original four-over-one windows are intact on all other floors.
Bay 5 again faces to the east in the U-shape, consisting of a small door at the basement,
and single windows on all other levels. Bay 6 has single windows on all three levels.
Bays 7, 9, 11, and 13 all have dormers above them. Bays 7, 11, and 13 at the basement
and first floors have double windows, with projecting two-story bays at the second and
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third floors, also with double windows. Bay 9 is almost the same, but at the first floor
has an added entry stoop, from 1988, with double doors replacing original windows.
Bays 8, 10, and 12 have double windows. Bays 14 and 15 at the basement level have
three single windows. Bay 16 at the basement has a single window on either side of a
double window. The first floor has half-timbering at the bay window, with a quadrangle
window, all original. The second floor has a single window on either side of a double,
with one of the windows in the double bricked in. The third floor is the same. Bays 17-
19 face south in the "U". All bays are the same, with three-light transom windows at the
basement level, metal frame three-light transom windows at the first floor, and single
windows on the second and third floors. Bay 20 projects out slightly to the east, with a
small bricked-in window at the basement, and small four-light transom windows, painted
over, at all other levels. The north elevation is seven bays wide. Bays 1 and 2 are the
same, with three-light original transom windows at the basement, and in-filled glass
block at the other levels. Bays 3 and 4 project to the north as the exterior stair tower.
Bay 3 at the basement is solid brick, with original six-light transom windows on other
floors. Bay 4 at the basement has a doorway into the stair tower, with openings on all
other floors as well. Bays 5-7 recede back to the south. Bay 5 has a single window at
the first floor, with double at the second and third. Bay 6 has double windows, and Bay
7 is the same as Bay 5. There is a brick chimney on this elevation. Steps up to the side
of the front porch are immediately adjacent to Bay 7.

12. Water tower, Contributing structure. ca. 1925.

This steel tower, located to the northeast of Anderson Hall, is typical in its design with a
cylindrical shape topped by a conical cap. It is currently painted black, with the only
changes being the removal of a ladder to eliminate access to the top by students. Four
angled legs set on pedestals form the structure's anchoring system. The tower is still in
use for emergency water supplies.

13. Headmaster's Cottage. Contributing building. 1912, 1919.

The Lawrence family of Cleveland also built this house in 1912 as a place where they
could stay when they visited the campus. John Milton Dyer may have designed this
building, the sixth structure to be completed on the school campus. (Anderson Hall, the
first dining hall, Mitchell Hall, Lawrence Hall, and Perkins Gymnasium were the first
five). When Charles Mitchell and his wife moved into the building in 1913 it became
known as "The Headmaster's Cottage". [t was enlarged in 1919 to accommodate
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Newton Anderson and his family, as well as guests on the campus. It was renamed "Fall
House" in 1981 in honor of former headmaster David R. Fall.  Like so many of the
earliest buildings on the campus, this building, too, faces the southwest. The original
1912 section is located on the northwest side of the building, with the 1919 addition to
the southeast. This one-story building is primarily a Tudor Revival style in much of its
detailing, with many Craftsman elements. The side gable roof is the original terra cotta
tile, punctuated by shed roof dormers. Walls are half-timbered. =~ There are two brick
chimneys. Some of the original casement windows were replaced in the 1980s with one-
over-one double hungs, and a portion of the porch on the southeast elevation was
enclosed in the 1920s, but other than these minor changes, the building retains a high
degree of integrity. The southwest or front elevation of the house consists of six bays,
with an attached porch at the northwest and  southeast corners of the building.
Beginning at the northwest corner of the building, at the original 1912 section, Bay 1 is a
solid expanse of wall. Bay 2 is the original front door, a diamond-pane over panel
design, approximately four feet wide. Bay three consists of a triple window. Projecting
out in front of these three bays is the attached front porch with a half-gable roof and
exposed rafter ends. On the northwest side of the building there is a ramp up to the
porch. Porch posts are stained dark with brackets. The balustrade is a 1 x 1 rail, with
square posts. The porch ceiling is beaded board. The 1919 addition begins at the end of
Bay 3, where the newer concrete patio surrounded by a low brick wall continues around
to the current front entrance to the house. Originally, this brick wall had a wooden
railing on top of it.  There are concrete steps with brick cheek walls with concrete
coping which lead to the front door. Bays 4-6 all recede back to the northeast from the
original section. Bay 4 is an original diamond-pane small double casement window, with
a projecting shed roof and exposed rafter ends. Bay 5 is the current front door, with a
shed roof covering projecting out to the southwest. The roof is supported by massive
curved brackets, and exposed rafter ends. The door is wide like on the original section,
and is multi-light diamond pane. Bay 6 consists of the original picture window with
diamond-pane square casement windows above. A dormer is located above this bay.
The second attached porch is located adjacent to this bay, receding back slightly to the
northeast. Single light French doors open onto the porch here. Heavy square posts and
brackets support this half-gable roof. The balustrade here is the same as on the original
porch. The southeast elevation is four bays wide, including one bay which recedes back
to the northwest on the original section, and three bays on the 1919 addition. The porch
at the southeast corner extends across Bays 2-4, with the gable end of the house visible
above. Bay 1, on the original section, has the attached porch extending out to the
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southwest, with half-timbering visible in the half-gable. Next to this is a double window.
Bay 2, at the 1919 section, consists of a diamond-pane over panel door onto the porch.
Bay 3 projects out slightly, and retains the original single diamond pane over one
window adjoining a diamond pane over three window. Bay 4 consists of a quadruple
one-over-one window in the gable end above the porch, slightly offset between Bays 3
and 4. The porch at the southeast corner of the building has been partially enclosed, with
two triple windows added. The northeast elevation is one-story plus basement, as the
topography drops slightly downhill at the rear of the building. It is eight bays wide. Bay
continues the enclosed portion of the porch area, with two single windows. Bay 2 has a
double window, with a double window at the basement level. Bay 3 at the basement is a
single window, and a shed roof dormer above with three single pane casement windows.
Bay 4 has a smaller single window at the basement and first floor. Bay 5 recedes back to
the southwest, and has a door to the basement, with no windows above. Bays 6-8 form
the rear elevation of the original cottage, and recede further to the southwest. Bay 6 has
a double window, and Bays 7 and 8 have single windows. The northwest elevation is
seven bays wide. Bays 1-4 are in the 1919 addition, and Bays 5-7 are in the original
section. Bay 1, receding back to the southeast, is one and one-half stories tall, with a
single window. Bay 2 on the lower level has a single pane window, and a single one-
over-one on the upper level. Bay 3 projects forward to the northwest, and consists of a
single pane window on the lower level, and a single window, slightly offset from the one
below, on the upper level. Bay 4 at the lower level has a square transom window, and an
offset single pane window on the upper floor. In the original section, Bay 5 had a double
window, Bay 6 has a single window, and Bay 7 has a double window.

The interior of this building continues much of the Tudor Revival style of the outside,
but is also an example of some Craftsman detailing. The original section of the building
consists of two bedrooms and two additional rooms--a living room and a sitting room or
study. A hallway divides the original cottage from the 1919 addition, with stairs to the
second floor located in this hallway. A kitchen is located at the end of this central hall.
A living room, and two dining rooms are located downstairs, and there are two bedrooms
upstairs. The living room of the original cottage, located just inside the front door, has a
simple Craftsman brick fireplace, with  heavy brackets supporting a plain oak mantel
shelf, and a boxed beam ceiling, now painted. Much of the cabinetry in this room is
built-in, original to the room. Floors are heart pine, and are wider boards than in the
1919 section. When the 1919 section was added, the sitting room located to the northeast
of the living room was enlarged slightly. Bedrooms in the original section are simple in



NPS Form 10-800-

(8-0e)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet

Sec"on number 7 Page 21 Asheville School Buncombe County.

OMB Approval No. 10240018

NC

detail, with a bath between them. There is an additional bath located in the hallway from
the sitting room to the bedrooms. Doors are single panel, many with their original glass
knobs. The floors in the 1919 section are also heart pine, but narrower boards. The
balustrade of the staircase is simple and Craftsman-like in its detail. The living room,
located to the southeast of the front door and hallway, has a boxed beam ceiling, built-in
window seats, built-in bookshelves to the northeast of the mantel, and a mantel which is
almost identical to the original 1912 one. The kitchen and much of the upstairs was
remodeled in 1993, converting the original three bedrooms into two.

14, Carriage House, Contributing building. ca. 1912-1919, 1927.

Arney Anderson, daughter of Newton Anderson, recalls that when she and her family
lived in the Headmaster's Cottage, this building was in use as a garage. When Howard
Bement became the fourth headmaster of the school in 1926, he converted this into
faculty housing for David Fall and his wife. Fall later became headmaster of the school.
It was used as a garage by the Anderson family in the 'teens, and remained as a faculty
residence until 1990. The building is now vacant. This small, one and one-half story
building is a combination of the Tudor Revival and Shingle styles, with half-timbering
on the first floor and shingles above. Oriented to the south, it has a side gable roof, now
covered in asphalt shingles, but originally tile like the Headmaster's Cottage. Rafter ends
and knee braces support the wide overhanging eaves. Windows are a mixture of styles,
some placed there in 1927 when the carriage house was converted to a residence.

The south or front elevation is four bays wide. Bay 1, at the westernmost corner, has
six-over-one windows on both levels. There is a shallow mansard style roof dormer
above the second floor window. Bay 2 has the front door on the first level, which is a
replacement of the original. There is a dormer above this bay as well. Bay 3 has a
diamond pane over two-light window on the first floor. The front, exterior chimney with
a single shoulder is located to the east of this bay. Bay 4 is the same as Bay 1. The east
elevation is one bay wide, with a triple diamond-pane-over-one casement window on the
first floor, where the original carriage/garage doors were located, and a double six-over-
one window above. The north or rear elevation is also four bays wide. Bay 1 on the
lower level has a six-over-one window, and the same type of window in the dormer
above. Bay 2 projects slightly to the north, with a three-light transom window and a six-
over-one window on the first floor, and a six-over-one window in the dormer above.
Bay 3 is all shingles, with a six-over-one window in the lower level only. Bay 4 has a
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six-over-one window on the first level, and a dormer above. The west elevation is one
bay wide, consisting of all shingle siding, and double six-over-one windows on both
levels.

15, Faculty Duplex 1. Contributing building. 1928.

This building, along with the adjacent faculty duplex, Boyd Chapel, and the renovation
of the carriage house all were completed during the time Howard Bement was
headmaster of the school. This two-story, vernacular interpretation of the Tudor Revival
style building is oriented towards the southeast on what is known as "Faculty Row". It
sits up on a hill above this entrance road, and is framed by large hemlock trees. It has a
hip roof, with cut rough-face granite with beaded mortar joints on the first floor and half-
timbering on the second. Windows, unless noted otherwise, are six-over-one double
hung. The southeast or front elevation is seven bays wide. Bay 1, at the southwestern
corner, on the first floor is a screened arch into the recessed side porch. Bays 2 and 3
have single windows on both levels. Bay 4 is the front doorway, a nine-light over panel
door with sidelights and a fanlight above. Granite steps with granite block cheek walls
lead to the door. The second floor of this bay is a double window. Bays 5-7 mirror the
other side of the doorway. The southwest elevation is five bays wide, with a dormer
above. There is a quadrangle window in the dormer. Bays 1 and 2 are a one-story
addition which projects to the northwest, built in the 1950s. Bay 1 is a six-light over
panel door, and Bay 2 is aluminum frame transom style windows. The remaining three
bays are screened arches into the recessed porch. The northwest elevation is six bays
wide. Bay 1 is an arched opening into the recessed porch her, with a door onto the
porch. Bay 2 on the first floor is a single window, and a double on the second. Bays 3
and 4 form the rear of the 1950s addition, which has a shallow hip roof, stucco walls, and
aluminum frame windows. Bays 5 and 6 are mirror images of the other side of the
addition. The northeast elevation is the same as the southwest.

16. Faculty Duplex 2, Contributing building. 1928.

Completed during the Bement years at the school, this building helped to fill a void on
the campus of providing quality housing for faculty members. It is currently undergoing
extensive interior renovation, still to be kept in use as faculty housing. The two-story
brick building is a vernacular style, with a low hip roof, six-over-six double hung
windows, central chimney, and a ca. 1970s two-story addition on the southwest side.
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Like the duplex next door, it is oriented to the southeast, and sits on the hill above
"Faculty Row".

The southeast or front elevation is five bays wide. All of Bay 1, on the southwestern
corner, recedes to the northwest, comprising the front of the 1970s addition. This
addition has half-timbered walls, with double six-over-six windows, and a second story
which cantilevers out over the first floor approximately two feet, also with double
windows. Bay 2 is a square arch opening with a hip roof, projecting out to the southeast.
A row of soldier course brick is set on top of the opening. The second floor has a single
window. The floor into this recessed porch/entry area is tile, and the ceiling is stucco.
Bay 3 has a triple window on the first floor, and a single and a double window on the
second. Bay 4 is the same on the first floor, with second floor windows reversed from
the configuration of Bay 3. Bay 5 is the same as Bay 2. The southwest elevation is four
bays wide. Bay 1 recedes way back to the northeast, forming the side elevation to the
wing of the building which projects to the northwest. It is solid brick on the first floor,
with a single window on the second. Bay 2 is stucco on the first floor, and half-timber
above, forming the southeast elevation of the addition. Bay 4 is a square arch entry to
the porch. The northwest or rear elevation is five bays wide. Bay | projects way out
to the northwest, and has a clipped gable roof. The first floor has a multi-light over panel
door and a triple window. The second floor has a single window in the center of the
wall. Bays 2 and 3 recede back to the southeast. They are the same, with double
windows on the first and second floors. Bay 4 has a single window on both floors, and
Bay 5 is solid stucco on the first, with a single window on the second. The northeast
elevation is five bays wide. Bay 1 forms the square opening to the side entry porch.
Bay 2 on the first floor has a nine-light over 1 door with glass louver windows on either
side. Bays 3-5 have singe windows on both floors.

17. Bement House, Contributing building. 1937.

The Howard Bement Guest House, built as a memorial to Howard Bement, was designed
by Anthony Lord, and was completed the same year as the Crawford Music House (#5).
It was built with funds from a drive headed by Howard Bement's friend, Philip Clarke of
Chicago. It is in keeping with the rest of the campus in its Tudor Revival style on the
exterior, but breaks somewhat from this on the inside, and is much more Classic Revival
in its detailing. Located at the southeast edge of the main campus, the building, like so
many of the others on the campus, is oriented towards the southwestern views across the
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fields towards Mt. Pisgah. A semu-circular drive leads to the rear entrance of the house,
while the front faces the southwest. The brick building is two stories tall, with a
habitable attic space, multi-light casement windows, a side gable roof with hip roof
dormers, a one-story porch which projects to the southeast, and a one-story addition
adjacent to the porch, also projecting to the southeast.

The southwest or front elevation has a row of soldier course brick between the first
and second floors. It is four bays wide, plus the porch. Bay 1, at the northwestern
corner, on the first floor, is a bay window with a single fixed pane in the center and
multi-light casement windows on the sides. A half-hip copper roof covers this bay. On
the second floor, offset from this bay window, is a triple casement window, and a dormer
above. Bay 2 has a double casement on the first floor, and a triple on the second.
Between Bay 2 and 3 is another dormer. Bay 3 has the rear door on the first floor, a
multi-light design, and two single casement windows on the second. Bay 4 on the lower
level has a double casement in the middle of two single casement windows, with transom
lights above, and a triple casement on the second floor. A third dormer window is
located above this bay. The porch projecting to the southeast has heavy, dark-stained
square posts, and is set on brick piers. It has a side gable roof, and steps with brick cheek
walls leading to the porch from the ground level. The steps lead first to a brick patio
which extends from the front door to the porch. The southeast elevation three bays
wide. Projecting out in front of Bays 1 and 2 is the porch, with lapped siding in the gable
end, and a balustrade which has beveled balusters with flat banisters and mid-rail. Heavy
posts and brackets support the roof structure, which is exposed. and the floor is
herringbone brick. Bay 1, on the first floor, has French doors opening onto the porch.
There is a double casement window in the second floor. Bay 2 is two stories plus a
basement in height. There is a multi-light door at the basement level, a smaller double
casement window on the first floor, and a single casement on the second. In the gable
above, at the attic level, is a double casement window. Bay 3 at the basement level is a
smaller double casement window, with a single casement on the first, and a double
casement on the second floor. Between Bays 2 and 3, at the gable level, is a single
casement window. The northeast elevation of the porch is raised on brick arches, with a
wall of lapped siding extending approximately two-thirds of the way to the roof.
Projecting to the southeast is the addition made to the house ca. 1964. The southwest
elevation of this addition is one and one-half stories. The southeast elevation of the
addition has a door into a basement at the lowest level, and is one bay wide with a single
window set into the lapped, dark brown wood siding. The northeast or rear elevation
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of the house 1s six bays total, with five bays wide in the original section, plus the addition
to the southeast which is an additional one bay in width. The addition is separated from
the main house by a one-story passageway. Bay 1, the addition, is one story in height,
with dark brown lapped wooden siding and a side gable roof, and six-over-six windows.
Bays 2 and 3 project forward to the northeast, and have a front gable roof. Bay 2, the
first bay of the original section, has double casement windows on both levels, and a
soldier course of brick as lintels. There is a large, exterior rear brick chimney between
bays 2 and 3. Bay 2 is the rear door, with "Howard Bement Guest House" carved into
the frieze above it. It is a multi-light door with sidelights on the southeast side. On the
second floor of this bay there is a single casement window. Bay 4 on the lower level has
a smaller double casement window, and a double casement on the second. There is a
dormer above this bay. Bay 5 has a single casement window on the upper floor. Bay 6
had triple windows on the upper and lower levels, and a dormer above. The northwest
elevation is three bays wide, with Bay 1 receding to the southeast, and having half-
timbering in the gable end. On the first and second floors are double casement windows.
All of Bays 2 and 3 are brick, and they are slightly lower in height than Bay 1 behind
them. There is an exterior end brick chimney in the center of these two bays. Bay 2 has
a double casement window on the second floor, and Bay 3 has double casements on the
upper and lower floors.

18. Stable, Non-contributing structure. 1995.

Located southeast of the main building complex, this simple, one-story, gable roof
wooden horse barn was completed by the school in the summer of 1995 for use by its
students. Originally, there was a barn and stable located further down this same road to
the southeast of the campus.

19, Camp Hollvmont Stable, Non-contributing structure. ca. 1984.

Also a simple gable roof, one-story wooden structure, this building was constructed for
the use of Camp Hollymont, a girls' camp which utilizes the Asheville School campus in
the summer months.

20. Boathouse, Non-contributing structure. 1960.

This utilitarian, gable roof structure is built of concrete block, and replaces the original
boathouse for the lake. It was built by crew alumni as a tribute to A.A. Coffey, the crew
coach for Asheville School from 1908-1946. It is currently used for storage.
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Summary

Asheville School was begun in 1900, and appears to be the only boarding school
institution of this type in the state of North Carolina founded upon the educational
philosophy of educating both the mind and body of the young man. Founded by Newton
Anderson and Charles Mitchell, the Asheville School continued the same standards of
excellence both of these men were familiar with at the University School in Cleveland,
Ohio, in offering classes in both the Classics and in the Manual Training or Vocational
Arts. The purpose of the Asheville School was to educate the "whole young man" in the
classics, the manual arts, and the physical and spiritual growth of each individual. In
order to achieve these goals, the school's founders looked specifically for a site which
would have within its boundaries not only land for building the necessary educational
and residential facilities, but also be away from the distractions of a city and have a large
enough land area for the athletic fields needed to nurture the physical growth and
development of the students. A site which met these requirements was found, and a lake
was soon developed for various athletic endeavors. Approximately 276 of the original
379 acres is still associated with the property, including the original lakebed. The
founders originally hired John Milton Dyer of Ohio, a locally and nationally prominent
architect from Cleveland to design the first of the campus buildings. Dyer began this
trend of top quality architectural design in his rendition of Anderson Hall, in a Tudor
Revival style. In keeping with the philosophies of excellence in education and the
architectural design to go with it, the school continued through the years to hire architects
and landscape designers of local and national prominence. These included Thomas
Hibben of Indianapolis, Indiana, who designed the Art Deco style Boyd Chapel,
Asheville architect Anthony Lord, who designed the Bement Guest House, the Crawford
Music House, and Memorial Hall, all in a Tudor Revival style with Arts & Crafts
detailing, and landscape gardener Chauncey Beadle, of the Biltmore Estate, who donated
his services to the school in 1934. Beadle developed plans for a more grand, curvilinear
approach road to the main campus, lined with native plant material, much of which is
still in existence. In addition, many renowned local craftsmen worked on the
construction and architectural detailing of these buildings, including Frank and George
Arthur, who carved much of the woodworking in the Crawford Music House and Boyd
Chapel, and William Dodge, architect and craftsman, who designed some of the stained
glass windows in Boyd Chapel. All of these artisans were associated with the Artisan's
Shop in Asheville. This property is eligible under National Register Criteria A and C,
and is significant in the areas of architecture, landscape architecture, and education.
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Historic Bacl ]
The Asheville School was founded in 1900 by two Ohio men, Newton Mitchell
Anderson and Charles Andrews Mitchell. Anderson had also founded the University
School in Cleveland, in 1890, and had asked Mitchell to join him there as Assistant
Headmaster. Previous to this, Anderson had founded a manual training and technical
school in 1885, the first of its kind in the country. The University School was also the
first "country day" school, although that term was not used until several years later.®
Anderson, a member of the first graduating class of Ohio State University who had done
graduate work in physics at M.I.T., had long tried to get recognition of his theory that
science, together with its practical application in manual training, should be an important
part of every boy's education. He introduced manual training, the forerunner of
vocational arts, into the public school system in Cleveland, the University School, and
later The Asheville School. Anderson had been strongly influenced by Dr. T. C.
Mendenhall, president of Worcester Polytechnic Institute. Dr. Mendenhall's ideas were
themselves derived from Herbert Spencer.’

The University School was flourishing in 1900, but the founders wanted an all-boarding
school, far from the distractions of a large city. They decided to found another school, in
a southern location. The founders sought a warmer climate, a location that had a stream
running through it, and plenty of acreage for playing fields. It also had to be near a
railroad. The first catalog of the school stated: "The school should be situated in the
most healthful region east of the Mississippi River, in a climate giving the largest
opportunities for outdoor life."8

In 1899, Anderson set out by train, heading for Virginia to search for suitable property
when he met J. H. Cutler, a representative of the General Electric railways, who had just
taken over operation of Asheville's electric railways. He related glowing accounts about
Asheville. Anderson decided to see for himself and was impressed with the beauty and
the climate of the area. He and Mitchell immediately set about looking for a suitable site
for the school. The founders purchased from M. J. Tennent 87.25 acres of farm land six
miles west of Asheville in Sulphur Springs. The land had the Ragsdale Creek flowing
through it and bordered the Murphy Branch of Southern Railway.? By the end of 1900,
Mitchell and Anderson had purchased approximately 310 more acres, making the
original acreage of the school close to 400 acres.'® Upon founding of the school,
Ragsdale Creek was dammed to provide for a crew team and other recreational activities.
A wooden dam, constructed in 1901 gave way to an earthworks dam in 1904. In 1906,
the Faragher Company of Cleveland began construction of a concrete dam, which lasted
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until 1960 when it gave way and flooded the valley. Burnham S. Colburn of Asheville
built the last dam in 1960-61."" By 1924, the school had acquired additional land to the
southeast, including what would soon be developed into the Malvern Hills property,
which Anderson hoped to develop with fine homes similar to those in Biltmore Forest.
Roads and lots were laid out for this subdivision, and a nine-hole golf course with a club
house was built by Anderson as part of the development of the property, but full
development of Malvern Hills did not happen until the 1950s and 1960s.'2

At Asheville School, Anderson was in charge of the sciences, manual training, and the
physical plant, while Mitchell, a Harvard graduate in the classics, oversaw the other
academic subjects as well as serving as the school's first headmaster along with Newton
Anderson. George Jackson taught mathematics and was in charge of athletics. In 1901,
the founders were joined by Henry Beardslee, a noted botanist, who was left behind for a
year at the University School to ensure a smooth transition for the new headmaster.
Beardslee was given the title of Senior Master, a title carried today by that teacher who
has the longest tenure with the school.

Once the initial land was purchased, Anderson and Mitchell called in John Milton Dyer,
an architect from Cleveland. Dyer had taught mechanical drawing and mathematics at
the University School from 1892-94. He left for Europe where he graduated with a
degree in architecture from the Ecole des Beaux Arts in Paris. Upon returning to the
United States, he opened up an architectural firm in Cleveland in 1900. Among other
buildings he designed in the Cleveland area was the Cleveland City Hall, dating from
1916. The plans for Anderson Hall, known then simply as "The House", were completed
by Mr. Dyer in 1900. Mrs. Newton Mitchell's brother, J. Wentworth Smith, also of
Cleveland, was the contractor. The building, with five floors including an attic and a
basement, contained alcoves for younger boys, rooms for older boys and teachers,
modest apartments for the headmasters, classrooms and an infirmary. A central oak
stairway was located in a large common room, known as "The Hall". This stairway was
removed in 1919 and replaced by a fireproof stairwell on the north side of the building.'?
A simple "temporary" structure called the dining hall was built from the scaffolding of
"The House". (It lasted for forty-seven years).

Fifty-three students from grades five through twelve enrolled in 1900, the first year the
school was in operation. The curriculum for the first four grades, called "forms”
according to the British system, were English, Arithmetic, Geography, History, and
Latin, with Drawing, Modeling, or Woodcarving being offered at various levels for the
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manual training classes. While the University School had a much more extensive manual
training program, this was unique to the Asheville area, and certainly a program which
attracted some of the early students.  The last four forms consisted of two courses of
study, the classical and the scientific. The classical course prepared boys to enter any
college or university, and the scientific course prepared boys for technical schools, and
gave a thorough English education to those who would go immediately into business.'4
The study of English, mathematics, history, science, and manual training was required of
all students. Instruction in instrumental music was also provided. This core curriculum,
the basis of a liberal arts education, is still offered at Asheville School. However,
manual training was dropped in the early 1950s. The fifth and sixth grades were dropped
in the early years, the seventh and eighth grades in 1964.

In 1903, the second building, known simply as "The School”, (now Mitchell Hall) was
built adjacent to "The House". It is likely this building was also designed by J. M. Dyer.
It contained all of the classrooms and laboratories, administrative offices, a large study
hall, and a theater. It, too, had a large central oak stairway, which was replaced in 1968
by two fireproof stairwells on the north and south ends of the building. In 1907, the M.
J. Lawrence family erected a second dormitory in memory of their son Millard Percy,
who was accidentally killed in a hunting accident. (Dyer may also have designed this
building). Lawrence Hall, also known as "Senior House", housed the upper forms. With
the addition of this new dormitory, "The House" then came to be known as "Junior
House" because the younger boys lived there.' Then, in 1912, a new gymnasium
replaced a wooden structure used for calisthenics during inclement weather. Named for
the family of George Perkins Raymond, the gym, which was state-of-the-art for its time,
contained a three-lane swimming pool, basketball court, apparatus room, locker rooms
and showers.

Also in 1912, the Lawrence family built the first section of "The Headmaster's Cottage"”,
a home for Mr. and Mrs. Mitchell, and a place for the Lawrence family to stay when they
visited the campus.'® This building, too, may have been designed by Mr. Dyer.
Declining health forced the retirement of Mr. Mitchell in 1919, at which time the large
living room and second story bedrooms were added. Mr. and Mrs. Anderson and their
only child, Arney, (Mrs. Arney Anderson Henke) moved in. The "Carriage House" in
back of this building was built sometime between 1912 and 1919."7 In 1927, it was
completely renovated as a faculty residence and was used as such until 1990.
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Mr. Mitchell died in 1921, and Anderson bought out his share of the still for-profit
institution. In 1924, Anderson turned over the headmastership to Mr. George Jackson,
while he took the title of Director. Anderson wanted to concentrate on developing his
Malvern Hills property to generate more funds for the school. It has always been his
hope to turn the school over to a board of trustees made up of alumni and, thus, become a
non-profit entity. But in 1926, Jackson died suddenly, and the Asheville real estate
market was showing signs of collapsing. Anderson was forced to sell the school to
Pittsburgh industrialist Walter P. Fraser. Fraser hired Howard Bement, chair of the
English department of the Hill School in Pottsdam, Pennsylvania, to run the school.
Bement was the fourth headmaster and the first from outside the ranks of the founding
fathers. Bement rejuvenated the school; one of his first projects was to provide the first
off-dormitory residences for faculty. The stone Faculty Duplex was built in 1928-29
from plans described by Mr. Fraser.'® The second faculty duplex was also completed in
1928, along with the conversion of the carriage house into a residence.

In November 1928, the William Spencer Boyd Memorial Chapel was completed. A gift
of Mary Boyd of Indianapolis in memory of her son, the chapel was designed by Thomas
Hibben of Indiana and New York. It was constructed of Salisbury, North Carolina
granite and Louisiana pine.'? The pews, altar, pulpit, and ministers' chairs were hand-
crafted by George Arthur, who taught manual training, and Robert Valier, partners in the
Artisans' Shop in Biltmore Forest. In 1934, noted local architect and silversmith William
Dodge designed and executed the stained glass chancel windows and the altar
brassworks.

It soon became apparent to Dr. Bement that Mr. Fraser was not going to carry on the old
traditions of the school, preferring to rename it The Asheville School for Training in
Christian Leadership and intending it to be a vehicle for his own particular philosophy.
In 1930, with the help of his good friend, Philip R. Clarke, president of the Chicago
Bank and Trust, Bement was able to float bonds to the alumni to buy back the school
from Fraser. Since 1930, the Asheville School has operated as a non-profit institution,
fulfilling Anderson's dream. The school continued to have some financial difficulties in
the 1930s and 1940s, however, and from 1933-1946 the school was placed in a Deed of
Trust with the City National Bank & Trust in Chicago.

Bement died in 1936, while still in office as headmaster, and was succeeded by David R.
Fall, his former pupil at the Hill School, who had come to Asheville to teach in 1928.%°
Two buildings were dedicated in 1937 in memory of Howard Bement, the Howard



NPS Form 10-800-a OB Approvel No 10240018
(8-08)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet

Section number __8 Page ¥ Asheville School Buncombe County, NC

Bement Guest House and the Crawford Music House. Both were designed by Asheville
architect Anthony Lord. George Arthur's son, Frank, co-owner of the Artisans'
Workshop, carved the frieze over the fireplace and hand-crafted a large music cabinet in
the music house. The Music House was the gift of John M. Crawford of Parkersburg,
West Virginia.2! It was his intention that it be called the Bement Music House, but the
Trustees, in an effort to avoid confusion, did not want two buildings bearing Bement's
name, and so named it for the benefactor.

Much of the beauty of the campus is the result of landscaping donated by Chauncey D.
Beadle, landscape architect in residence at the Biltmore Estate until 1950s, and trained by
Frederick Law Olmsted, designer of the Estate. In 1934, he had enrolled his three
stepsons, the Rudolf boys, and was so impressed with the school that he offered his
landscaping design and plant materials to the school free of charge. His design included
enlarging and relocating the school entrance, and landscaping for the Bement House and
the Music House. Much of this design, except for the evergreen trees lining the entrance
road into the campus, has been lost to damage or weather over the years.

In 1947, Anthony Lord designed his third building on the campus. Memorial Hall,
which honored those Asheville School boys who lost their lives in World War 1I,
replaced the "temporary” dining hall built in 1900. Lord designed the chandeliers in the
room, and Charles Rubsamen, master carpenter living on campus, designed and built two
cabinets, four large oak tables, and several oak waiters' tables.

The last building to be supervised by headmaster Fall before his retirement in 1964 was
the Philip R. Clarke House, which provides five faculty apartments attached to Lawrence
Hall. In 1964, John L. Tyrer, an English teacher at the Hill School, became the sixth
headmaster. During his 28-year tenure, the school concentrated on offering a four-year
college preparatory curriculum. The Tyrer years saw the building of the Rodgers
Memorial Athletic Center, made possible through the beneficence of former Texaco
president W. Starling Rodgers '04. Replacing the 1912 gym, the new complex has a six-
lane Olympic-sized pool, three full-sized basketball/volleyball courts, a weight room, and
team rooms. In 1982, one portion of the old Perkins Gym was converted into the Walker
Arts Center, which houses a 380-seat theater, an art department, and music rooms.
Under Tyrer's guidance, the first African-American students were enrolled in 1968, and
in 1972, girls were offered admission as day students. In 1986, six girls were offered
housing on campus, and by 1990, the first girls’ dormitory, Kehaya House, was



NPS Form 10-800-a OMB Approval No. 10240018
(8-88)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet

Section number 8 Page 8 Asheville School Buncombe County, NC

dedicated. In 1984, also during Tyrer's time at the school, state officials found fault in
the lake's concrete spillway. The school was told to repair the dam or breach the lake.
Years before, the state had built a road over the dam and had assisted the school in the
maintenance of the dam. They refused to honor this earlier agreement, and the school
could not afford the cost of a new dam, which was estimated at high as $3.7 million. In
1987, Lake Ashnoca was breached and the dam removed.?

Tyrer retired in 1992 and was replaced by William S. Peebles IV. Now in his fourth year
as head of the school, Peebles managed the construction of the Sharp Dining Hall/Tyrer
Student Center/Crawford Art Gallery, a complex built on the footprint of the old Perkins
Gymnasium of 1912.

Being founded by two men from the mid-west, it was natural that in the early years the
Asheville School would attract most of its students from the Ohio, Illinois, Michigan,
and Indiana areas. They all "prepped” for the Ivy League schools and were accepted
almost without question, into Yale, Harvard, Princeton, Cornell, and similar colleges and
universities. It was not until the 1950s that more boys from the South began to enroll.
Currently, most of the students come from the Southeast, but twenty states are
represented, with fourteen foreign countries, completing the diverse enrollment. The
academic programs offered at Asheville School has drawn students from across the
nation since its founding, and continues this tradition of excellence today.

Asheville School has, through the years, graduated many illustrious alumni. Over three
thousand alumni are scattered throughout the country, bringing recognition to their
school as well as to Asheville and North Carolina. Some well-known names include
James Grove Seely '26, grandson of E.W. Grove; Ashevillians Frank Coxe '17, Tench
Coxe '17, Tench Francis Coxe '12, W. F. P. Coxe 21, Julian Woodcock 21, Hiram Cody
'33, Baxter Taylor '36, and Reuben Holden '36; George Milburn Studebaker, Jr. '06 of
South Bend, Indiana; Edmund Ball 23 of the Ball Bros. Jar Company of Muncie,
Indiana; J. C. Penney, Jr. ' 23; the Firestone boys of Akron, Ohio, Harvey '16, Russell
'19, and Roger '31; James Kimberly 26 of the Kimberly-Clark family; the sons of World
War I Ace Eddie Rickenbacker, David '44, and Bill '45; H. C. Robbins Landon '43, world
authority on Mozart and Haydn; Herbert Fisk Johnson '18 and Samuel Curtis Johnson '46
of Johnson & Sons Wax Company; and Leigh Perkins '46, CEO of the Orvis Company.?
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The Asheville School is the only example of a day and boarding school college
preparatory campus in the city of Asheville. It is the only example of this type of
campus in Buncombe County, and seemingly in the state of North Carolina which retains
a high degree of integrity in terms of the large number of architecturally high style
historic academic, residence, and support services buildings on the campus, as well as
retaining much of its original wooded acreage. The rolling fields, lakebed to the south,
and wooded buffers make it the largest campus of this kind in the city. In addition to the
historic land acreage which is still associated with the campus, Asheville School is
significant for its association with many locally and nationally prominent architects,
craftsmen, and landscape architects. Among these are John Milton Dyer, Thomas
Hibben, Anthony Lord, William Dodge, and Chauncey Beadle. The majority of campus
buildings retain a high degree of original integrity in terms of architectural style and
craftsmanship.

While it appears that J. Milton Dyer did not design any other work in the Asheville area
at the turn of the century, he was a prominent architect in the Cleveland, Ohio area in the
first two decades of the twentieth century.?? His work at the Asheville School was
among his earliest commissions. Dyer was born in Middletown, Pennsylvania in 1870,
and moved with his family to Cleveland in 1881. He received his architectural training
at the Cleveland Institute of Technology and the Ecole des Beaux Arts in Paris. Dyer
died in 1952. During his lifetime, some of the buildings he designed included the
Brooklyn Savings & Loan (1904), the Tavern Club (1905), the First Methodist
Episcopal Church (1905), the Peerless Motor Car Company (1906), the Cleveland
Athletic Club (1911), and Cleveland's City Hall (1916). Dyer was inactive in his
architectural practice for many years, but designed the U.S. Coast Guard Station in
Cleveland in 1940. In addition to the many commercial and institutional buildings he
designed, Dyer also designed many residences in the Cleveland area. As noted in the
book Cleveland Architecture 1876-1976 by Eric Johannesen, Dyer was considered to be
an extremely versatile architect capable of designing in a wide range of styles. While his
most productive years were barely two decades long, he had gained national prominence
by 1906, when his work was featured in an article in The Architectural Record.?> Styles
he utilized in his buildings included the Beaux Arts for the Cleveland City Hall,
Commercial Classical for the Brooklyn Savings & Loan, Gothic Revival for the First
Methodist Episcopal Church, Art Nouveau/Arts & Crafts for the Peerless Motor Car
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Company, and Sullivanesque for the Cleveland Athletic Club.?6 The Tavern Club with its
Tudoresque and Gothic Revival influences is the closest stylistically to Anderson Hall at
the Asheville School. However, Anderson Hall, like many of Dyer's other buildings,
appears to be completely unique, and is yet another example of this architect's versatility.

Thomas E. Hibben, architect for Boyd Chapel, was, like Dyer, a prominent architect in
the early part of the twentieth century. Born in Indianapolis, Indiana, he attended the
Irvington public school in Indianapolis, and later the Manual Training High School.
From 1910-11 he attended the Butler preparatory school, and then went on for his
undergraduate college training at Princeton University, which he attended for two years.
His education was interrupted by the death of his father, and he spent some time in the
family's mercantile business and then in World War [. Soon after the war he attended a
vocational school in Paris, France, and began his study of architecture. He completed
these studies at the University of Pennsylvania. He then returned to Indianapolis where
he worked for a time with Herbert Foltz and then Robert Frost Daggett. In 1923, he
began traveling to study other university architecture in preparation for his work at Butler
University and the design of Jordan Hall. Soon after this he established his own firm in
New York, completing the design of Jordan Hall from his new office. At the same time
Boyd Chapel at the Asheville School was under construction, Hibben's Jordan Hall at
Butler University in Indianapolis was also being built. Identical in many aspects to

Boyd Chapel, it too utilized the Art Deco style of the 1920s, including the granite facing

and limestone Chevron details at the cornice level. In addition to these buildings, Hibben
designed the Phi Delta Theta house on the Butler campus, the Indiana Lincoln
Memorial and the Indianapolis Chamber of Commerce. In addition to his work as an
architect, Thomas Hibben was an artist involved in the design of memorial windows at
Riley Hospital in Indianapolis, and completed many etchings, lithographs, and sculptures
in his day.?7 He wrote many books on architecture, and served as the technical advisor
for many developing countries in his work with the United Nations.? He was technical
advisor to Brazil and an engineering advisor to the United States section of the Caribbean
Commission. He also served as an advisor for foreign economic development in the
Office of the International Trade.? Thomas Hibben died on March 19, 1952, in Pakistan,
where he was serving as chief technical advisor for the country.

In the later years of the development of the Asheville School, three locally prominent
men, Anthony Lord, William Dodge, and Chauncey Beadle, were associated with the
school. Anthony Lord, born in Asheville in 1900, received his degree in mechanical
engineering from the Georgia Institute of Technology in 1922, and his degree in
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architecture from Yale in 1927. Beginning in 1929, Anthony Lord worked with his
father, William Lord, another prominent Asheville architect. This association lasted only
four years, as William Lord was killed in a tragic automobile accident in 1933.30 Also
beginning in 1929, Anthony Lord ran a blacksmith shop for his ornamental ironwork
business. Known as Flint Architectural Forgings, he created metalwork for the National
Cathedral in Washington, D.C., the library quad at Yale, and for many homes in
Biltmore Forest in Asheville. His skills as a blacksmith led to his being a charter
member of the Southern Highland Handicraft Guild, located in Asheville. 3! This
business lasted until 1937, but Lord continued to create ironwork for many of his
buildings after this time, including those at Asheville School. Lord was one of the
founding members in 1942 of the Asheville architectural firm Six Associates, which is
still in existence today. An artist, craftsman, and architect who was well versed in the
styles of the day, Lord traveled extensively in Europe, creating watercolor sketches of
buildings and scenery. Other buildings which Tony Lord designed in the Asheville area
include the Dillingham Presbyterian Church (1934), the International style Weizenblatt
House (1937, with nationally renowned architect Marcel Breuer), the Asheville Citizen-
Times building on O'Henry Avenue in the Art Moderne style (1938), and the Horace
Miller House in Biltmore Forest in a Mediterranean style (1925). Lord's work at the
Asheville School was purposely designed in the Tudor and Gothic Revival styles to blend
these later 1930s and 1940s buildings with the earlier buildings on campus. While
immensely different from his work in other parts of town, the quality design of all three
of the buildings on the Asheville School campus show clearly the versatility evident in
Lord's work (Bement Guest House, #17, Crawford Music House, #5, and Memorial Hall,
#9). Anthony Lord died in Asheville on December 9, 1993. Lord was closely associated
with William Waldo Dodge, another locally prominent architect who was also well
versed in the manual arts, including woodworking and silversmithing. Dodge was born
in Washington, D.C. in 1895, and received his architectural training at the Massachusetts
Institute of Technology. He came to Asheville in 1918 after being injured in World War
I, and stayed at the Veteran's Hospital in Oteen. While at the hospital he learned the craft
of silversmithing. Dodge was associated with the Artisan’s Shop in Biltmore Forest as
well as another shop, Asheville Silvercraft, which was located on Charlotte Street, and
later moved to a shop in Biltmore Forest. The Biltmore Forest building, Dodge's
architectural studio and silversmith shop, is an example of the Arts & Crafts style,
showcasing Dodge's skills as a designer, artist, and craftsman. Built in 1928, it is filled
with wood carvings and metalwork. Dodge also designed the Frock Shop and the
Artisan’s Shop (no longer existing) in Biltmore Forest at this same time, 1927-30. Other
work of Dodge includes several houses in Biltmore Forest dating from the 1920s, and
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residences for the Enka Corporation around Enka Lake in Buncombe County in the
1930s. Dodge, like Lord, was a founding member of Six Associates. He returned to
private practice in 1950, and retired in 1958. While none of the buildings on the
Asheville School campus were designed by Dodge, evidence of his skills as a master
craftsman are still visible in the windows and altar brassworks of Boyd Chapel (#8).
The last of the three local designers associated with Asheville School is Chauncey
Beadle. Beadle had studied at the Ontario Agricultural College and at Cornell University
before arriving in Asheville in 1890 with Frederick Law Olmsted, landscape architect for
the Biltmore Estate.32 Beadle was trained in the "Olmstedian" style of landscape design
which included as design elements curving, tree-lined streets, close attention to the
topography, and use of native plant materials. After his work with Olmsted at the
Biltmore Estate, Beadle became chief nurseryman for the Olmsted Brothers landscape
architectural firm, and then became the head landscape gardener at the Estate until 1950.
Beadle was responsible for the layout of two Asheville neighborhoods, Grove Park
(1908) and Biltmore Forest (1922) . Both of these neighborhoods follow closely the
Olmstedian design philosophies noted above. While not nearly as extensive as the work
he did in these neighborhoods, Beadle's work at the Asheville School in 1934 involved
these same philosophies in the design of the curving approach road lined with native
evergreen trees, and the planting of native materials near many of the campus buildings.
While much of the detail of Beadle's design of the campus has been lost through the
years, the approach road remains as a reminder of his work at Asheville School and the
Olmstedian influence there.

The only other comparable private day and boarding school facility in Buncombe County
is Christ School, located in the town of Arden. The campus is currently larger than
Asheville School, with a total acreage of approximately 500 acres. It features open lawn
spaces, forests, and fields. Extensive athletic facilities are part of the campus life, as is a
three-acre lake, added to the campus in the 1950s, which is used for canoeing, kayaking,
fishing, and swimming. The campus is reached by way of a rural residential road and an
approach drive with the original chapel building at the entrance to the main campus area.
All of the current buildings are loosely arranged around a central oval green space,
ringed in portions by large boxwoods. Some of these current buildings include the
original chapel (1906), the dining hall (1915, remodeled in the 1990s into an alumni
center), dormitories (1930, 1938, 1948, and 1959), the infirmary (1938), the main
classroom building (1940), and the headmaster's house (1968). Set further back from
this grouping of buildings are faculty cottages dating from the 1950s and 1960s
primarily. The athletic fields and two new dormitories, currently under construction, are
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located to the east of the main cluster of buildings, with a view of the mountains beyond.
The original chapel building, dating from 1906, is the oldest building which still remains
on the campus. The original classroom buildings and the rustic cabins used to house the
students are no longer in existence. Also located on the property is the ruins of the
Alexander Robertson House, Struan Plantation, dating from 1855, and a stone house
which also dates from the 19th century.®® The chapel building is an intact example of a
Gothic Revival structure, built by the founder of the school, Reverend Thomas Wetmore.
While utilizing the Gothic Revival in much of its detailing, it is truly a vernacular
building, built by Reverend Wetmore and students, using as its main building material a
brown mica schist which was quarried locally. This stone is rough cut, and randomly
laid, and is used not only on this building, but on all structures built after this time, up to
the current day. The repetitious use of this stone on all new buildings around the main
green space gives the campus a very cohesive appearance.” Many of the later buildings
were also built by students as part of their manual training program. In contrast to the
Asheville School, Christ School has lost many of its early buildings which served as
reminders of the school's beginnings. Just as the educational philosophies of the schools
were vastly different, the architecture is also very different at the two schools. Asheville
School's buildings were, in almost all cases, designed by prominent architects of the day,
in fashionable architectural styles, while those at Christ School were more vernacular
buildings, beautifully crafted, but not high style or architect-designed until later years.

Educational Context

The Asheville School is the only example of a boarding school college-preparatory
campus in the city of Asheville, and appears to be the only school of this type in the state
of North Carolina which was founded upon the idea of educating both the mind and body
of the young man. The founding of Asheville School as well as the University School
in Cleveland, Ohio, were daring experiments in preparatory education, as it challenged
the time-honored system of classical education of British origin. The idea in Newton M.
Anderson's mind, in the founding of both of these schools, was an institution where boys
could prepare for college, where the body, through organized athletics, would be trained
as well as the mind, and where boys could learn constructive work with their hands as
well as their heads.34

Prior to coming to Asheville, Newton Anderson founded the University School in
Cleveland, in 1890. While certainly not the first college preparatory institution in the
country, the University School was the first college preparatory institution to develop
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three essentially radical new philosophies of education. The first new philosophy was the
idea that boys could be educated in a college preparatory curriculum, but not have to
leave home to attain this goal. Many college preparatory institutions at the time required
full-time boarding, but Anderson felt that the "country day" philosophy of providing
college-preparatory education, but allowing the boys to go home in the evenings was a
much more desirable venture.®> The second philosophy was that boys should be trained
in the manual arts and applied technology along with the classical curriculums.® Third,
Anderson felt that training the mind as well as the body were essential for the young
man's total education. Previous to his founding of the University School, Anderson had
worked within the public school system in Cleveland as a teacher at Central High School.
There, he became a staunch proponent of the idea of manual training in the schools, as
well as the traditional classical studies.  Anderson's ideas were not accepted by the
administration of the public schools, so, in 1885, he began to offer evening classes in
metal working, woodworking, and related manual arts. He retrofitted a building on East
46th Street in Cleveland, the Harvey Barn, for this purpose. Persuasive even as a young
man, Anderson was able to gain the support of prominent men in the Cleveland area to
support a true manual arts school, and in 1886, the Cleveland Manual Training School
was begun. Soon after this, seeing the success of this venture, the Cleveland School
Board purchased the school and included it in its public offerings. Anderson was able to
gain the support of the same men who had helped found the Manual Training School to
help him begin the University School. As the Industrial Age in America grew in
magnitude, there was a growing need for the training of young men in technical skills,
and schools, both regionally and nationally, began to develop. Newton Anderson played
a key role in the furthering of this educational trend. After ten years at the University
School, Anderson began to see the disadvantages of trying to combine the "country day"
philosophy with a boarding school, and began to look around for a place to begin another
institution which would be solely a boarding facility. When he settled upon Asheville, he
brought with him these same educational philosophies that were so prevalent at the
University School, minus the "country day" type of organization. Indeed, the founding
principles of the University School could have also been used to describe the Asheville
School.3” Anderson's prominence in the educational community ensured the immediate
success of the Asheville School, drawing students first from the mid-west, but later
nationally and internationally.

The only other example of a boarding school in Buncombe County is Christ School,
located in the town of Arden. It was founded in 1900, but with a much different
educational philosophy than the Asheville School. Founded by the Episcopal Church, its
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main purpose was to educate indigent boys and girls from the mountains of Western
North Carolina in basic subjects, as well as giving them the opportunity to learn self-
sufficient farm skills and manual arts in an intensive setting. It was not set up with the
intent of educating the "whole young man" for an Ivy League college education as was
the Asheville School. Anyone who wanted to attend was admitted to the school, even if
they were unable to pay tuition. Due to its charitable status, many students could only
afford to attend the school for a year at a time, and some could not afford the modest
tuition of fifty dollars per year.®® Special arrangements were worked out for these

‘particular students, allowing them to make furniture in the woodworking shop, which

could then be sold to help pay their school expenses.® While some graduates did
continue on to college careers, the school was not intended to be a college preparatory
institution, but instead was set up as a charitable organization to take the place of public
school instruction and to help the children in the mountain communities. Students lived
in simple cabins, with one central building used for classroom instruction.2  Religious
education was a central focus, with one of the earliest buildings on the campus being the
chapel. Founded by Reverend Thomas Cogdill Wetmore in 1900, Christ School did not
graduate its first class until 1902, with a total enrollment in its first year of 90 students.4’
In 1928, when public education was more readily accessible, the school evolved into
more of a college preparatory boarding campus, which it remains today, along with a
strong Christian educational environment.
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11t should be noted that this nomination should be updated in 1997 so this building can be counted as a
contributing property.
;See drawings for Memorial Hall by Anthony Lord, 1946. (in archives at Asheville School)
Ibid.
“Ibid.
Sibid.
“The US Story, 1965.
8Yearbook of Asheville School, 1900-01.
9"Sky News", from The Asheville Chamber of Commerce, February 1950.
10Buncombe County Deed Records, 1899-1947.
' Alumni Magazine, January 1949.
12 Anderson had always been interested in the affairs of Asheville and was president of the Civitan Club,
vice president of the Asheville Real Estate Board, and chairman of the Board of County Commissioners
from 1928-30.
13Conversation in 1991 with George Anderson, nephew of Newton Anderson.
14Yearbook of Asheville School, 1900-01.
'5The Asheville School Review, 1907.
'6Asheville School Review, 1913.
17Mrs. Henke remembers it as a garage with servant's quarters on the second floor, in 1919.
18From correspondence of Judge Junius Adams. Adams was the school's attorney for many years and
was made chairman of the first Board of Trustees.
'9Ashnoca, 1952.
DThe carriage house was remodeled for David Fall and his wife in 1928 when he came to the school to
teach
21Crawford was a noted collector of Chinese art and caligraphy, who donated his extensive collection to
The Metropolitan Museum of Art. When the Walker Arts Center opened in 1982, Crawford asked the
Museum to loan some of the works to the school for an exhibit.
2 Asheville Citizen-Times, 1987.
23 Asheville School Student Directory
%AThe Encyclopedia of Cleveland History, 1987, p. 352.
2Johannesen, Eric. Cleveland Architecture 1876-1976. Cleveland: The Western Reserve Historical
Society, 1976, p. 79.
21bid, pp 79-84.
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27Brown, Paul V. "Thomas Hibben, Artist and Man,"” Butler Alumni Quarterly, October 1928, p. 144,
28"Hibben Remembered for Much,” Collegian, April 1, 1952.
1bid.
O Asheville Citizen-Times, July 28, 1933.
31 Johnson, Bruce, "Interview with Tony Lord," Pebbledash, January 1994,
32Bowers, Sybil A. and Humphries, Carolyn. Grove Park Historic District National Register Nomination,
Asheville, North Carolina, 1988.
33The original eleven acres of the school was purchased from the Robertson family (interview with Ellen
Brown, Researcher at Christ School, January 22, 1996).
3L ecture in 1950 by Henry Peters, University School Headmaster, 1908-1947, Asheville School
archives.
35The "country day" idea did not actually work as well as Anderson had initially hoped. Later,
the University School did change to a boarding school institution.
36"Modern Prep School Bomn in Cleveland Barn." Cleveland Plain Dealer, 14 April 1940.
37These principles were: "To develop the greatest possible dexterity of mind and body; To impart to him
as much useful knowledge as possible; To teach him healthful and manly habits; To aid him in forming
an earnest and upright character.” (from Hail, University!, p. 11)
381bid. In 1916, students from Asheville School raised funds to help pay for two deserving students

at Christ School.
nterview with Ellen Brown, Researcher at Christ School, January 22, 1996.

40°Gift to Christ School”, The Asheville School Review, 1916, pp. 14-15.
41Galax Memories. Winter 1995, p. 15.
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Additional Documentation

Submit the following items with the completed form:
Continuation Sheets

Maps

A USGS map (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property's location.

A Sketch map for historic districts and properties having large acreage or numerous resources.

Photographs

Representative black and white photographs of the property.
Additional items
(Check with the SHPO or FPO for any additional items)

Property Owner |
(Complete this item at the request of SHPO or FPOQ)) (See continuation sheet for additional property owner,

name The Asheville School, Inc.

iak & b Asheville School Road hoe (704) 254-6345

city or town Asheville state NC zip code 28806

Paperwork Reduction Act Statement: This information is being collected for applications to the National Register of Historic Places to nominate

properties for listing or determine eligibility for listing, to list properties, and to amend existing listings. Response to this request is required to obtain
a benefit in accordance with the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended (16 U.S.C. 470 et seq.).

Estimated Burden Statement: Public reporting burden for this form is estimated to average 18.1 hours per response including time for reviewing
instructions, gathering and maintaining data, and completing and reviewing the form. Direct comments regarding this burden estimate or any aspect

of this torm to the Chief, Administrative Services Division, National Park Service, P.O. Box 37127, Washington, OC 20013-7127; and the Office of
Management and Budgel, Paperwork Reductions Projects (1024-0018), Washington, DC 20503.
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Additional UTM References

5 17 Easting: 353620 Northing: 3936220

& 17 Easting: 353400 Northing: 3935700

Verbal Boundary Description

The nominated parcel is comprised of lot numbers four, five, six,
fifty-seven, sixty-five, sixty-six, sixty-seven, sixty-eight, sixty-
nine, seventy, and seventy-one on sheets twenty-nine and thirty, ward
five of the Buncombe County tax maps.

Boundary Justification

The boundary includes all of the remaining property historically
associated with the Asheville School including the athletic fields,
circulation system, and lake bed.
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Additional property owner (cemetery--3 acres)

Acton United Methodist Church
c/o William C. Clark

Rural Route 2, Box 170
Candler, NC 28715

(704) 667-2477
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Asheville School Photographs

The following information applies to all of the photographs, except where noted.

Name of Property:  Asheville School
Asheville School Road
Asheville
Buncombe County
North Carolina

Photographer: Sybil Argintar Bowers
Date of photos: August 1995
Location of Division of Archives and History

original negatives: One Village Lane
Asheville, North Carolina 28803

1. Aerial photo 1: view of campus, ca. 1960, looking north.
(Photographer, copy negative: Nick Lanier; Date: October 1995)

2. Aerial photo 2: view of athletic fields, ca. early 1980s, looking north.
(Photographer, copy negative: Nick Lanier; Date: October 1995)

3. Aerial photo 3: view of campus, prior to 1927, looking northeast.
(Photographer, copy negative: Nick Lanier; Date: October 1995)

4. Aerial photo 4: view of Lake Ashnoca, ca. 1940s, looking east.
(Photographer, copy negative: Nick Lanier; Date: October 1995)

5. Main campus, looking southeast.
6. View across fields, looking south.
7. "Faculty Row" (entrance road), looking north.

8. Walker Arts Center/Sharp Hall/Tyrer Center, looking northeast.
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9. Crawford Music House, interior, looking northeast.

10. Boyd Chapel, looking west.
(Date: October 1995)

11. Boyd Chapel, interior, looking west.

12. Anderson Hall, looking south.
(Date: October 1995)

13. Memorial Hall, looking northwest.

14. Rodgers Memorial Athletic Center, looking southwest.

15. Bement House, looking southeast.



lete,: _ K |
Thetr= 1-4 are aertal Photos N 2 eorredony (1)
Prptos 9 and. I} ara rrzrior prots

=
Lawr

it4vey
v

andscape (C)
5
Craw'ord
Music 3
Hous@ Boy d
Chapel

20
Aoathouse (NCD

, by lokebed (UIF) \
' ZKETCH A Al @ thoto #/dln’dwn OPVIEU.) _FA
E ‘g&\fl“@/ Aol eensord F 12,3 Nerth
Ajhg\,'\nq, Cortripuhrne ™ 6go,lc, : el
‘ roxim
BUmOMb@COuﬂJrB  KIC Hon-comribuhg O l"‘;?’: oo 4






Proto 1
Asheville Scheol
Ashoxille






Photr 2
Acheville scheol
Buncomoe QOUfThJ NC






noto
Ksh@v’lﬂﬂ)%l

)N






Phot 4
o hoplleécheol

g ncorbe (oy NE






Photo 5
AshevilloZcheol

Bun(mY\b&eO) NC






Photo b
Ashexilleschool

Buﬂ(ﬁ'ﬁ\bﬁ (o)












Photo 8
Agrexille Schoo

Buﬁco-mm Co, N






Photo 9
Aehexille) School
Bunwomee Co, NO






Photo 10
Ashevillo échoof

Bunompe. Co, M






Dhoto \\
Jpexille Ghoo!
gucomoe (0 N






Photo 12
pehnei|\&

4choo!
CO) l\l-(-J






Photo 3
Ashexlle School
Buncompe. o, N&






Photo 14
Mohevilleécheol
Puncwomtz. (o, NG






Photo 15
Aohexille school
punome (o, NE&



& 9
UNITED STATES UNITED STATES ENKA QUADRANGLE s
DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR TENNESSEE VALLEY AUTHORITY NORTH CAROLINA-BUNCOMBE CO. «
3 GEOLOGICAL SURVEY MAPS: AND SURVEYS BRANCH 7.5 MINUTE SERIES (TOPQGRAPHIC) 192-SW &

2.4 ML TO 4455 Il NW
A| NorTH cAROLINA 63 (LEICESTER 192-NW)

82745’ i 10
35°37'30" ‘emprermEes 7 A =T - = = 1 S N . T ——— = % : ; . - ;
iz ) r\‘ . | ‘ N { ’1‘: ‘ H/ ‘/j]//;\/} !\ I:f L:_h ’—-\\ﬁ% JJ &= - Ve \ v % ' '\l Oryar T / | | d r’r _.::'I s 1H\ | o ..‘I' % L/ ':}‘ [ "
g / N b £ AN [y 1 \ 7 7 e 3 4 i, i g b Ry ==t i g . ; \ F -y o i =ALEY) '-,‘ %
" L N A ) { 7 - * bl g 7 F i ! P .8 T N
- = = '__. o ‘ =0 ) 2 1 P 3 ~ | \/ e ), 4 i/ { ) i = ]
. D= ST . Sty - ] —3 ) ; — A1, : ) | R
i . - - o S -
(s - A N s . ) 2 = )
i == 3 ) o 4= i Al = i =
o Ay ‘." 1 { - A = A oy | |
N 2=

900 000 FEET 82°37'30"
y A T -35°37'30"

Il\{— \-:l = WY
OB

\’\,g_

i/

A A WO
/ 2 ) = 43
2 = cq “ o ot S | . Y i- ) SR RS 2l s (2 . v \ =
b s : I &) 2 s -.-. SR U AW el 2= AN N i)~ 1| 700 000
e i 4 FEET

ca~ro$?,6 M.
NEWF‘OU?D AP 2.5 MI.
— =T

7 MI.TO U.B. 25
AN
<
2
S
=

8
-4

(CANTON 183-SE)
(ASHEVILLE 192+SE)
4455 |l SE

[«

% 18
X
o
E

—

, WATERVILLE 36 ML

w
"

WAYNESVILLE 16 MI. W
CANTOMN 5.5 Mi. V<

£

......
R

) \'\.\ i er . | ,r_"j [ 1 o
* . N~ o, =
S ) RS i r i = __." N
Nah e Ny M5 - \ { NN\~

1.2 MI. TO NORTH célmum 191 %
[+
(%]

[ ss30000m.Ny,

WO

g

35030 M/ N7~ - SAR o ' // i N =)= . e NLINNEN 1Y 35030y

S oegfp?}f ::: 343! 1890 000 FEET pr 7T rDUNSMOﬁeﬁ ?Iﬁ 193tNW ) §f BEAVERDAM 0.4 M1, ICAL SURVEY, RESTON, “"%’gz'&faﬁf 82°37/30"

o Mapped and edited by Tennessee Valley Authority . SCALE 1:24000 ROAD CLASSIFICATION (TVA 192-SW) ’oﬁ_

J - : 1 0 1 MILE

N Published by the Geological Survey * e e - Primary highway, Light-duty road, hard or ,,:"9
Control by USC&GS, USGS, and TVA o 1010501:5 0 1000 2000 3000 4000 S0 X0 2000ieesT hard surface improved surface — - 0’,2/%
Revised by TVA in 1963 by photogrammetric methods using (‘ ‘E:E:E;:E—‘_{ —2._ 3 PILOMEIER - KENTUCKY}" Secondary highway, - ® '1-@
aerial photographs taken 1960 and by reference to TVA-USGS ; 0°59' CONTOUR INTERVAL 20 FEET e At hard surface ? Unimproved road. —==—=z=x=-
quadrangle dated 1941. Map field checked by TVA, 1961 %r 17 WIS { TENNESSEE 4Ne. Interstate Route: | (U.S: Route State Route
80 NATIONAL GEODETIC VERTICAL DATUM OF 1929 ; ES aNC -
Polyconic projection. 1927 North American datum v g —— g &
rle(i'tgggl"::?tcg:fd?:;idsigt:;rth Cargllcs THIS MAP COMPLIES WITH NATIONAL MAP ACCURACY STANDARDS Mlss‘j "ALE'."\ G&Qc'
FOR SALE BY U.S. GEOLOGICAL SURVEY, DENVER, COLORADO 80225, OR RESTON, VIRGINIA 22092
1000 meter Univ'ersal Transverse Mercator Grid ticks, ”B"ec’i’.‘éﬁr?é‘n" i?%?e.'«“#éi"%‘;"’sﬂgg 3 AND U.S. TENNESSEE VALLEY AUTHORITY, CHATTANOOGA, TENN. 37402 QUADRANGLE LOCATION ENKA, N. C.
Zone 17, shown in blue A FOLDER DESCRIBING TOPOGRAPHIC MAPS AND SYMBOLS IS AVAILABLE ON REQUEST Revisions shown in purple and woodland compiled by the 35082-E6-TF-024
To place on trle r_:redlfzted North American Datum 1983 Fine red dashed lines indicate selected fence and field lines where 4 Geological Survey from aerial photographs taken 1987
move the projection lines 8 meters south and generally visible on aerial photographs. This information is unchecked Aﬁh eN| l | 2 ﬁh&j) and other sources.  This information not field checked 1963
12 meters west as shown by dashed corner ticks ' . Map edited 1990 PHOTOREVISED 1990
' Aﬁh@{l\\@ DMA 4455 Il SW-SERIES V842

There may be private inholdings within the boundaries of :
the National or State reservations shown on this map Bu N Cm’] m (,OU r !'h.,{ ) M CJ



r(@
’O %,
o, UNITED STATES UNITED STATES
Q’;::“ DE'PARTME‘.NT OF THE INTERIOR TENNESSEE VALLEY AUTHORITY
"‘e./ GEOLOGICAL SURVEY MAPS AND SURVEYS DEPARTMENT
35.,37,%%‘37’3,5M y 54 55 sss(véfas';_“ 2—N T %9 )
l . o, o | # Ay a0 I -_f_‘!q;l_la’q_, = |
LR A =
sl i\ ATy = ok,

I'q\,.k (A3

g # LEICESTER 8.0 MI,

it

|, Sec EnkaGual

2 I 353300
7 %927500 iz _ ¢ N ,
_ S il IS 08|\ W NI e\ s\
3 |7 255400 3z VA (e SONRN = 7 Ny, | _ )
1 2031160 " 8| TS, \ | - =

4 V1 353240 3

7 3935300 3 P77
38

660 000}
FEET

ASHEVILLE QUADRANGLE
NORTH CAROLINA-BUNCOMBE CO.
7.5 MINUTE SERIES (TOPOGRAPHIC) 192-SE \‘ﬁsh

o e

IS 1353 - 990 000 FezT 357 Hewoe (SKYLAN 193-NE) 359
82°37'30" 54 355 358 4454 NE
& Mapped and edited by Tennessee Valley Authority : SCAI:E1:24OOD
f_.\d? Published by the Geological Survey : 2 I 1 MILE
&?y\‘# Control by NOS/NOAA, USGS, and TVA 1000 0 1000 2000 300 4000 5000 6000 7000 FEET
* Revised by TVA in 1961 by photogrammetric methods using 1 5 ) 1 KILOMETER

@5
\d) aerial photographs taken 1960 and by reference to TVA-USGS
quadrangle dated 1943. Map field checked by TVA, 1961

Polyconic projection. 10,000-foot grid ticks based on
North Carolina coordinate system

1000-meter Universal Transverse Mercator grid ticks,
zone 17, shown in blue

North American Datum of 1983 (NAD 83) is shown by dashed

CONTOUR INERVAL 20 FEET

DASHED LINES REPRESEN HALF-INTERVAL CONTOURS
NATIONAL GEODETIC VRTICAL DATUM OF 1929

UTM GRID AND 1991 MAGNETIC NORTH
DECLINATION AT CENTER OF SHEET

THIS MAP COMPLIES WITH NATONAL MAP ACCURACY STANDARDS
FOR SALE BY U.S. GEOLOGICAL SURVEY, DENVIR, COLORADO 80225, OR RESTON, VIRGINIA 22092

AND U.S. TENNESSEE VALLEY AUHORITY, CHATTANOOGA, TENN. 37402
A FOLDER DESCRIBING TOPOGRAPHIC MAP AND SYMBOLS IS AVAILABLE ON REQUEST

Adneville, =hol
éﬁpfnﬂv:% Countu . N\

corner ticks. The values of the shift between NAD 27 and NAD 83

for 7.5-minute intersections are given in USGS Bulletin 1875 There may be private inholdings within the boundaries of

, . the National or State reservations shown on this ma
Fine red dashed lines indicate selected fence and field lines where °

generally visible on aerial photographs. This information is unchecked
Red tint indicates areas in which only landmark buildings are shown

363 00om.E,
ROAD CLASSIFICATION
Primary highway,
hard surface

Secondary highway,
hard surface

£ KENTUCKY vz

TENNESSEE” I TU.S. Route

NG, l: ) Interstate Route
4 -, —d ‘4 N
M'ssj"'Ai:I&'_"\ GA.'&C-

QUADRANGLE LOCATION
Revisions shown in purple and woodland compiled by the Geological Survey
in cooperation with State of North Carolina agencies from aerial
photographs taken 1987 and other sources. This information not field checked
Map edited 1991

Purple tint indicates extension of urban areas

Unimproved road
() state Route

%4, 8

030-!

=M -35°37/30"

i /4700 000
ST FEET
\ A 3943

[\
\ED!

"\OTEEN 0.6 MI.

; ¢ ~ M : \ y
OTEEN 201-SW) swannanod s ml

2
BLACK MTN. Il M1, F

3
w

W 357

M.
@
~

4555 11l SW A MORGANTON 40

g

R

([ =35

S| e,

(TVA 192-SE)

Light-duty road, hard or
improved surface

ASHEVILLE, N. C.
35082-E5-TF-024

PHOTOREVISED 1991
DMA 4455 Il SE-SERIES V842



National Register of Historic Places

Note to the record

Additional Documentation: 2018



AD 96 600 67
NPS Form 10-900-a (Rev. 8/2002) OMB No. 1024-0018
Uni.tEd States Deganment of the Interior Asheville School, Additional Doc.
National Park Service Name of Property
Buncombe County, NC
National Register of Historic Places et
Continuation Sheet NR Reference Number

Section number 3.4, 5,8, 11, 12 Page |

3. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended,

[ hereby certify that this _X additional documentation  move __ removal
name change (additional documentation) __ other

meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the National Register of
Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36
CFR Part 60.

%@MA sWeo W[5 20

Signature of Certifying Official/Ti |t~|e) Da‘e of Action
North Carolina Department of Natural and Cultural Resources

State or Federal agency and bureau

4. National Park Service Certification

I hereby certify that this property is:

_entered in the National Register

___determined eligible for the National Register
_determined not eligible for the National Register
__removed from the National Register

V/ additional documentation accepted

___other (explain:)

/192018

(jrgnaturc ,&d’fhe Keeper Date of Action

r-f,(



NPS Form 10-900-a (Rev. 8/2002) OMB No. 1024-0018

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet

Section number 3,4, 5, 8,11, 12 Page 2

Asheville School, Additional Doc.

Name of Property
Buncombe County, NC

County and State
96000614

NR Reference Number

5. Classification

Number of Resources within Property
(Do not include previously listed resources in the count)

Contributing Noncontributing

12 15 buildings
1 1 sites

1 5 structures
0 0 objects
14 21 total

8. Statement of Significance

Period of Significance
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Section 7: NARRATIVE DESCRIPTION

The Asheville School was listed in the National Register of Historic Places in 1996. The nomination
included a full description of the campus, as well as a detailed inventory with
contributing/noncontributing status for the twenty resources then located on the property. The
nomination defined the Period of Significance as 1900-1946, apparently ending the period 50 years
before the nomination was written.! Activities making the school significant continued to have
importance, but not exceptional significance, and no more specific date could be defined to end the
historic period.

This additional documentation extends the Period of Significance to 1968, and updates the inventory
to change contributing/noncontributing status where needed and to document alterations to the
campus since the original nomination. Most buildings documented in 1996 remain unchanged in
overall appearance and in contributing/noncontributing status. Thus, the following inventory only
updates entries for two buildings from the original inventory: the 1947 Memorial Hall, which was
built within the newly defined Period of Significance and considered contributing, and the
noncontributing Rodgers Memorial Athletic Center (1975), which had a major addition ca. 1998 and
remains noncontributing due to age. This additional documentation also includes one contributing
building previously undocumented and adds entries for fourteen noncontributing resources built
since the original nomination’s completion.

Memorial Hall’s status has been changed from noncontributing to contributing because of the
extension of the Period of Significance. The building was planned and designed during the original
Period of Significance but completed in 1947, one year after the end of the original Period of
Significance. Since the nomination was prepared, the building has been renovated as described in the
following inventory entry and its use converted from dining hall to library. Those changes are
detailed in the updated inventory entry below. The work did not compromise its architectural or
historic integrity and only minimally and very sympathetically altered the exterior appearance. The
Rodgers Memorial Athletic Center was constructed outside the updated Period of Significance and
remains noncontributing. It has, however, been significantly altered with additions that are therefore
described in the updated entry. The noncontributing Boathouse, built in 1960 and now within the
Period of Significance, has not been altered but remains noncontributing because the draining of the
lake resulted in the loss of that building’s physical context and associated landscape. The Boathouse
stands hidden in woods that have grown up in the former lakebed and is not visible from the historic
heart of campus, although it remains on school property. No update to its inventory entry is needed.

Y inthe original 1996 National Register Nomination for Asheville School, the first endnote explains that the
nomination should have been updated the following year in 1997 in order for Memorial Hall to be counted as a
contributing property. The note reference mark is found within Memorial Hall’s inventory entry in Section 7,
page 13 and the corresponding end note is in Section 8, page 16. Sybil Argintar Bowers and Donna Lewis.
“Asheville School.” National Register of Historic Places nomination. 1996. On file at the North Carolina
Historic Preservation Office, Raleigh.
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The added contributing building is a 1937 brick coal burner shed. It stands in a wooded area north of
Bement House and was likely overlooked in the original nomination.

The fourteen new noncontributing buildings and structures are located southeast, east, and north of
the group of historic buildings at the heart of campus and are not visible from most of that area. To
the southeast are two log cabins (2002) and a pavilion sheltering a climbing wall (2008). The cabins
are south of the road that leads east to the stables; the pavilion stands just north of that road. They
are visible from Bement House and from one of the original faculty duplexes, but not from the
majority of vantage points in the campus core. North of the pavilion and separated by a wooded area
are seven faculty houses and duplexes built between 2003 and 2007. They line Faculty Drive, a new
street that runs southeast from Faculty Row and is entirely buffered by woods from the historic
campus. Finally, north of the Walker Arts Center/Sharp Hall/Tyrer Center stand three maintenance-
related structures (1997), all situated on the north side of a service road and visible from the back of
that building.

No other buildings or features have been significantly altered or erected and none have been
demolished since the 1996 nomination.

According to this updated documentation, there are now twelve contributing buildings, fifteen
noncontributing buildings, one contributing site, one noncontributing site, one contributing structure,
and five noncontributing structures in the district. There is a total of fourteen contributing resources,
including the landscape, and twenty-one noncontributing resources in the district.

Updated Inventory Entries

In the original nomination, inventory entries were numbered 1 through 20. Properties being updated
retain their original inventory numbers in this additional documentation. Newly inventoried
properties are numbered 21 through 35. Because items in this inventory list are scattered across
campus, sometimes in small groups, an italicized note generally describes the location of each
building or group.

In the heart of the campus core.
9. Memorial Hall/Skinner Library, Contributing building, 1947, ca. 1960, 1990, 1997, 2016
Anthony Lord, architect; Philip Shive, rehabilitation architect

This history and description updates but does not replace the entry from the 1996 nomination.
Memorial Hall was proposed for conversion from a dining facility into a library in Charlotte
architect Philip Shive’s campus master plan of the late 1980s.2 That work was done in 1997 and is
described below, but the general appearance of the exterior and the most significant room in the
interior—the dining hall—remains unaltered.

2 Philip Shive, “Asheville School Master Plan,” undated, Asheville School Archives.
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The changes in 1997 included replacing the original wood windows with aluminum-clad wood
windows throughout the building and converting mechanical space in the basement to programmatic
space. The new windows have muntin patterns matching the originals and completely fill the
original openings, with the exception of a few openings that were infilled at the northwest elevation,
as described below. The original doors at the main entrance and at the front-gabled bay of the facade
remain.

Converting the basement to programmatic use required the relocation of HVAC equipment. It is now
at the exterior, at the rear of the building, situated immediately east of the loading dock. A new
lattice-brick wall shields the equipment from view. At the loading dock, the originally deep recess at
the centered entry has been eliminated. A new brick wall has double-leaf metal doors and is only
slightly recessed within the original wide opening.

Exterior changes at the northwest elevation, where the basement level is exposed and faces a
guadrangle, reflect the shift in use at the basement interior. The nature of the changes are to present a
more refined elevation, which reflects its programmatic use rather than its previous utilitarian use,
and is in keeping with the appearance of the rest of the building. The eleven-bay northwest elevation
originally featured garage and equipment doors as well as the same multilite casement and fixed
windows seen elsewhere on the building. The garage and equipment doors in bays four and seven
(counting left to right) were replaced with double-leaf wood French doors. The original transom
above the door at bay seven was removed and infilled with a cast-concrete panel; a sconce installed
at the panel lights the entrance. Likewise, upper halves of the narrow window openings at the lower
level in bays eight through ten have been infilled with concrete panels and have sconces installed. A
matching French door was added to bay eleven, replacing the original window and set into a
widened opening. The new door at bay eleven has a panel with sconce above the door, replicating
the new look created at bay seven. Across the elevation at bays seven through eleven, the wall below
the level of the lower window sills was originally exposed poured concrete; it has been faced with
brick since 1996. Finally, the earthen bank at bays one through six has been removed and replaced
with a landing at the door in bay four flanked by stairs paralleling the elevation and edged with a
brick wall with sloped top edge with concrete coping. This stair echoes the original double stair that
leads from the quad at the west corner of the building up to the facade.

The main dining hall, the functional heart of the building from the students’ perspective, is now used
as a reading room, a similar communal use. It occupies the front-facing gabled bay, at the large
pointed-arched window of the facade. The new function leaves the space open and the exposed
trusses of the roof support intact. New carpet covers the concrete floor. The entrance foyer retains
the original six-foot-high wainscot. Kitchen areas have been converted into library book stacks,
requiring the removal of all kitchen facilities. A small dining room is now used as a conference room
with no alterations. Original crawl spaces have been excavated to provide additional interior space.

Some general maintenance completed in 2016 included new slate flooring in the building’s lobby
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and repair and updates to exterior stairs and to the roof. The original curved wall and two staircases
at the west corner of the building were repointed. Original bricks remain and the appearance is
unchanged. The slate roof has new snow guards, arranged in triple rows close to the eaves.

To the southwest of the campus core.
10. Rodgers Memorial Athletic Center, Noncontributing building, 1975, ca. 1998

*Note: This inventory entry describes changes to the building since the original nomination. It has
not changed contributing/noncontributing status and is not included in the section 5 resource count.

A substantial one-story-on basement addition was constructed in 1998 to the west, north, and east
sides of the original single-story concrete building. The addition is flat-roofed with a center barrel-
arched section. The ground floor has a brick exterior with cast concrete window sills and lintels.
Windows are very large, aluminum fixed-sash, and set singly or in pairs across the elevations. The
basement level, exposed at the south and southeast ends, is of split-face concrete block punctuated
with large vents that mirror the size and placement of widows in the floor above. Part of the original
building is visible at the south and west ends and features blind concrete wall with metal coping and
a flat roof. A vent and single-leaf personnel door are at the south elevation. The interior was
completely remodeled with the addition.

To the southeast of the campus core (21-24).
21. Paulson Outdoor Center, Noncontributing building, 2002

One-and-a-half-story-on-basement, side-gabled, plank-log cabin with dovetail notching; concrete
chinking; one-over-one wood windows; gabled dormers; v-crimp metal roofing; shed-roofed front
and rear porches with plain wood supports, brackets, and balustrades; stuccoed concrete-block
chimney at northeast gabled wall; and stuccoed concrete-block basement exposed at the rear
elevation. The Paulson Outdoor Center is southeast of the Bement House, just south of the road
leading to the stables.

22. Log Cabin, Noncontributing building, 2002

One-and-a-half-story-on-basement, side-gabled, plank-log cabin with dovetail notching; concrete
chinking; one-over-one wood windows, shed dormer; v-crimp metal roofing; shed-roofed front and
rear porches with plain wood supports, brackets, and balustrades; stuccoed concrete-block chimney
at southwest gabled wall, and stuccoed concrete-block basement exposed at the rear elevation. The
log cabin is immediately west/southwest of the Paulson Outdoor Center and is used as part of the
outdoor education program.

23. Mary Wall climbing wall, Noncontributing structure, 2008

An octagonal wood pavilion with square columns and metal roof shelters plywood climbing walls
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also arranged in an octagon. The pavilion is north of the road leading to the stables, between the
Bement House and the Paulson Outdoor Center.

24. Coal burner shed, Contributing building, 1937

Single-story brick building with single-leaf door at the south elevation; its roof appears to be either
flat or hipped, but vines covering the roof obscure the shape and roof covering. The building stands
in the woods northwest of the Mary Wall climbing wall. The small structure served as the coal
burner for the Bement House until the 1950s, when heating for the entire campus was converted to
oil.3

To the east of the campus core sit seven noncontributing residential buildings that occupy roughly
five heavily wooded acres straddling Faculty Drive (25-31).
25. Everest House, 3 Faculty Drive, Noncontributing building, 2003

Two-story, side-gabled, double-pile house on continuous brick foundation with two front-facing
gables; gabled portico at front stoop sheltering half-glazed two-panel wood door with sidelights;
faux half-timbering over stucco exterior; double-hung and casement wood windows with simulated
divided lights; attached two-car garage at northwest elevation and recessed from facade; and asphalt
shingle roofing.

26. Ron Bromley House & Dell Bromley House Duplex, 7-9 Faculty Drive, Noncontributing
building, 2006

Two-story, side-gabled duplex with symmetrical fagcade featuring slightly projecting front-gabled
center bay flanked by gabled porticos at front stoops with battered posts on ashlar piers; single-leaf
entry doors with metal storm doors under porticos; cement-fiber lap siding; simulated divided-light
double-hung vinyl windows arranged in pairs and flanking fixed picture windows; simulated
divided-light casement vinyl windows; stuccoed foundation; and asphalt shingle roofing.

27. Laura House and Karen House Duplex, 11-13 Faculty Drive, Noncontributing building, 2006

Two-story, side-gabled duplex with symmetrical facade featuring slightly projecting front-gabled
center bay flanked by gabled porticos at front stoops with battered posts on ashlar piers; single-leaf
entry doors with metal storm doors under porticos; cement-fiber lap siding; simulated divided-light
double-hung vinyl windows arranged in pairs and flanking fixed picture windows; simulated
divided-light casement vinyl windows; stuccoed foundation; and asphalt shingle roofing.

3 Tom Bleick, Asheville School Director of Facilities, email correspondence with the author, January 17, 2017.



NPS Form 10-900-a (Rev. 8/2002) OMB No. 1024-0018

United States Department of the Interior Asheville School, Additional Doc.

National Park Service Name of Property
Buncombe County, NC
County and State

National Register of Historic Places 96000614
Continuation Sheet NR Reference Number

Section number 7 Page 6

28. Cincinnati House, 15 Faculty Drive, Noncontributing building, 2003

Two-story, side-gabled, double-pile house with two front-facing gables on continuous brick
foundation; gabled portico at front stoop sheltering half-glazed over two-panel wood door; faux half-
timbering over stucco exterior; double-hung and casement wood windows with simulated divided
lights; attached two-car garage at northeast elevation and recessed from fagade; asphalt shingle
roofing.

29. Callender House, 12 Faculty Drive, Noncontributing building, 2003

Two-story, side-gabled, double-pile house on continuous brick foundation with two front-facing
gables; gabled portico at front stoop sheltering half-glazed, two-panel wood door behind metal storm
door and flanked with sidelights; faux half-timbering over stucco exterior; round-arched casement
wood window and single and paired double-hung wood windows with simulated divided lights;
three-sided bay window with double-hung wood windows with simulated divided lights at first-floor
facade to left of front entrance; attached two-car garage at northwest elevation and recessed from
facade; asphalt shingle roofing.

30. Johnson House, 6 Faculty Drive, Noncontributing building, 2003

Two-story, side-gabled, double-pile house on continuous brick foundation with two front-facing
gables; gabled portico at front stoop sheltering half-glazed, two-panel wood door flanked with
sidelights; screened porch extending to the north from portico; faux half-timbering over stucco
exterior; round-arched casement wood window and single and paired double-hung wood windows
with simulated divided lights; three-sided bay window with double-hung wood windows with
simulated divided lights at first-floor fagade to right of front entrance; attached two-car garage at
southeast elevation and recessed from fagade; asphalt shingle roofing.

31. Coleman Duplex, 148 Asheville School Road and 2 Faculty Drive, Noncontributing building,
2007

Two-story, side-gabled, double-pile house, on continuous brick foundation; hipped porticos at front
and side stoops sheltering six-panel wood doors; metal storm door at front entrance; faux half-
timbering over stucco exterior; paired and single double-hung wood windows with simulated divided
lights; shed-roofed wall dormer; and asphalt shingle roofing.

To the north of and at a distance from the campus core and behind/largely obscured from view by
Walker Arts Center (32-35).
32. Maintenance Building, Noncontributing building, 1997

Single-story, gable-roofed, brick-veneered L-plan building. Offices in the wing that projects to the
south; garage at the wing that extends from the north end to the east. Round vent in south gable end,



NPS Form 10-900-a (Rev. 8/2002) OMB No. 1024-0018

United States Department of the Interior Asheville School, Additional Doc.

National Park Service Name of Property
Buncombe County, NC
County and State

National Register of Historic Places 96000614
Continuation Sheet NR Reference Number

Section number 7 Page 7

single-leaf personnel door in the east side of the office wing, garage door in the south side of east
wing. The maintenance building is north of the service drive that leads from Smokey Park Highway
to the parking lot north of the Walker Arts Center/Sharp Hall/Tyrer Center.

33. Maintenance Garage, Noncontributing building, 1997

Gable-front garage with plywood walls and vehicle access opening slightly off-center at front gable
wall; open bays on the north side; and single-leaf personnel doors along the south side. The
Maintenance Garage is immediately east of the Maintenance Building.

34. Shed, Noncontributing structure, 1997

Three-stall shed with concrete-block partial-height walls; shed-roof supported by wood posts set on
concrete-block wall, allowing open space between the walls and roof; asphalt shingle roofing. Stands
south of the Maintenance Garage.

To the southwest of the campus core.
35. Prefabricated garage, Noncontributing building, ca. 1974, 1995

Prefabricated, side-gabled, single-story all-metal garage with three overhead doors. Stands at the
west end of the parking area between the football and baseball fields, screened from view by a dense
row of trees. Moved to this location in 1995; erected in 1974 and previously stood near the
Maintenance Building.

Integrity Statement

Despite some changes on campus since 1996, Asheville School retains integrity of location, design,
setting, materials, workmanship, feeling, and association. The school remains in its original location,
on the wooded hilltops on the west side of the city of Asheville in western North Carolina’s
Buncombe County. The historic core of campus—centered around Tudor Revival-style buildings on
the north-south ridge that look southwest toward Mt. Pisgah—Ilooks as it did in 1996 when originally
listed and very much like it did in the Period of Significance, retaining integrity of design and
setting.

The three areas of new construction were sited with great respect for both the appearance and
function of the historic campus core. The group of new faculty houses are in a heavily wooded area
east of the core, on a dead-end street set apart from historically significant construction. The new
dwellings are not visible from the previously listed campus buildings and therefore do not detract
from their appearance or the overall appearance of the historic core. Similarly, the two new log
cabins and climbing wall pavilion that serve the recreational program at the school have been
grouped beyond the southeast edge of the core with similar existing properties, the stables and tennis
courts. The cabins and climbing wall are easily visible from Bement House, itself situated at the
southeast end of the heart of campus. This small group of new structures likewise does not detract
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from the appearance of previously listed buildings or from the overall design or setting of campus.
The addition of maintenance buildings and sheds follow the same pattern of placement at the
periphery of the campus so as not to affect the appearance of or views from the historic core. The
careful siting of new buildings ensure that they do not detract from the integrity of design and
setting.

Just as the setting and the overall historic campus remain the same, most contributing buildings are
entirely unchanged, retaining integrity of materials and workmanship for Asheville School. While
Memorial Hall, newly categorized as contributing, has had some changes since the initial listing of
the campus, the work was done with great respect for the original design and materials, preserving
original doors, exactly replicating window muntin patterns, and carefully repointing associated brick
walls and stairs. New stairs and entrances were designed to complement the originals and the
building remains in its original location. Changes to Memorial Hall, therefore, do not compromise
the integrity of location, setting, design, materials, or workmanship at the building or on campus as a
whole. The non-contributing Rogers Memorial Athletic Center’s large addition wraps around the
original non-contributing building and remains low to the ground so that it does not detract from the
view from the historic buildings at the ridge, thereby maintaining the district’s integrity of setting.

Finally, the campus continues in its original and intended function, as a residential (and now day)
school established in the early twentieth century. This continued use and the school’s stewardship of
the property preserves the integrity of feeling and association both for the overall campus and the
individual buildings. The placement of new buildings in functional nodes at the edges of campus can
be seen as reinforcing the property’s status as a self-contained school, thus protecting the integrity of
feeling and association. Collectively, then, the changes at Asheville School since its original listing
in 1996 do not detract from the property’s integrity of location, design, setting, materials,
workmanship, feeling, or association.

Statement of Archaeological Potential

The school is closely related to the surrounding natural environment and landscape. Archaeological
remains, such as trash deposits and structural remains which may be present, can provide
information valuable to the understanding and interpretation of the Asheville School. Information
concerning institutional culture, as well as the spatial organization of outdoor activities and the
character of daily life at the school, can be obtained from the archaeological record. Therefore,
archaeological remains may well be an important component of the significance of the school. At
this time no investigation has been done to discover these remains, but it is likely that they exist, and
this should be considered in any development of the property.
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Section 8: NARRATIVE STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE
Summary

Asheville School was listed in the National Register of Historic Places in 1996 with a Period of
Significance beginning in 1900 when the school was founded, and ending in 1946, presumably
cutting off at 50 years from when it was written. This additional documentation extends the Period
of Significance through 1968, cutting off at 50 years from its preparation, as the school continued
to reflect its significance in the areas of Architecture, Landscape Architecture, and Education
beyond 1946. Although the school continues to function as an educational facility, its post-1968
operations and development are not of exceptional significance and no more specific date could be
defined to end the period of significance. The expansion of the Period of Significance allows
Memorial Hall, a 1947 building designed by Asheville architect Anthony Lord, to become a
contributing resource, further illustrating the school’s commitment to hiring architects and
landscape designers of local and national prominence to expand the campus.* This document also
serves to correct oversight in original nomination by including the 1937 coal burner shed, as a
contributing building, and accounts for any changes to the campus made since the original
nomination.

Section 8 of the original nomination included a narrative through the 1990s, with brief coverage of
the years between the late 1940s through 1996. This additional documentation provides additional
information about the school’s operation in the expanded Period of Significance, now ending in
1968, and a brief summary of events from 1968 to the present.

Asheville School Updated Historical Background, 1947-present

The years following World War 11 were generally a quiet continuation of the school’s operation
until social forces on the national level prompted changes on campus. At mid-century, having
completed an initial phase of development and growth with some transitions of leadership, the
school was established enough that administration and students began reflecting on its history and
character, honoring lost graduates with Memorial Hall and throwing a 50" anniversary celebration.
Later in the period, the Civil Rights movement pushed the institution to look forward and begin to
become more inclusive.

The completion and dedication of Memorial Hall in 1947 came after decades of trying to fund a
permanent dining hall. The Depression derailed an early attempt to raise money for a new

In the original 1996 National Register Nomination for Asheville School, the first endnote explains that the
nomination should have been updated the following year in 1997 in order for Memorial Hall to be counted
as a contributing property. The note reference mark is found within Memorial Hall’s inventory entry in
Section 7, page 13 and the corresponding end note is in Section 8, page 16. Bowers and Lewis, “Asheville
School.”
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building, then developments of World War Il in Europe stalled a second attempt. Finally, the
school could wait no longer and managed to raise funds from alumni in 1944 and 1945. The
building, as described in the original nomination, was designed by Anthony Lord. Its dedication
honored more than two dozen graduates who had died in war.®

Other changes to the campus and in the school’s mission in the 1950s and through the early1960s
were few and generally outlined in the original nomination. The school celebrated its fiftieth
anniversary in 1950 with a weekend of events involving current students and alumni from nearly
every class. In the fall of 1953, Asheville School began to accept day students, a move meant to
strengthen and improve ties with the local community. By inviting more local southern students,
the institution was shifting away from its identity as a boarding school for northern students in the
south. In 1954, a new summer school program helped new boys adjust and let some current
students review for and make up missed exams. Students initiated a drive in 1956 to improve the
campus library and Headmaster Fall hired a professional librarian. In the early 1960s, James “Pop”
Hollandsworth established a program to teach camping and rock climbing, taking advantage of and
educating the students about the geography surrounding the school. Hollandsworth’s
mountaineering program became an important part of school culture. Also in the early 1960s,
Headmaster Fall reported to trustees that college acceptance was getting much more competitive
and the school could “no longer assure any boy entry into an Ivy League school.”® Perhaps in
response, the school adjusted its curriculum from a broad educational focus to a stronger college-
preparatory program with fewer grade levels.’

When Headmaster Fall reported to the board on rebellious behavior in the 1960s, it was perhaps a
sign of a coming shift in the school’s culture. The sense of change and unrest felt throughout the
country, as expressed in the Civil Rights movement, the anti-war movement, and the anti-
establishment counterculture, coincided with the aging of long-serving members of the faculty and
administration. Southern boarding schools were contemplating integration and headmasters
privately discussed the timing, probability, and process among themselves. Founded by
northerners, Asheville School never had a policy of excluding black students, but, as Headmaster
Tyrer related to another southern boarding school headmaster in September 1966, “Thus far, we
have not had the qualified candidates apply.”®

® Memorial Hall fundraising brochure and typescript of Memorial Hall dedication address, Memorial Hall
file, Asheville School Archives, Skinner Library, Asheville School.

6 Fall quoted in Ogden and Arborgast, 59.

7 On the fiftieth anniversary, evolution into a southern school, and strengthening college-preparatory focus,
see Steve Levin, Amid Rugged Mountains: The Asheville School Centennial History, 1900-2000 (Asheville:
The Asheville School, 1999), 79 and 90-92; on day students, summer school, and the library expansion and
hiring librarian, see Rosemary Ogden and Virginia L. Arbogast, Asheville School: An Informal History,
1900-1975 (N.p., n.d), 54 and 55-57; on mountaineering program history, see “Mountaineering” page of
Asheville School website, at www.ashevilleschool.org, viewed March 8, 2016.

8 on campus mood, Tom Margerger, “The End of the Old Order,” Achievement (Spring 2016), 26-36; on
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The following spring, highly qualified black students did apply and were accepted to Asheville
School, thanks to the involvement of the Stouffer Foundation of Winston-Salem. Textile and
tobacco heiress Ann Cannon Forsyth established the foundation in 1967 with the express purpose
of integrating southern prep schools. The foundation recruited male and eventually female African
American and other minority students, helped them select and apply to boarding schools across the
south, and paid their tuition. Between 1967 and 1975, the foundation assisted 142 students in
gaining admission to and attending 22 southern prep schools in North Carolina, Virginia,
Alabama, Florida, and Mississippi. Ebony magazine published an article in 1975 about the
program, quoting Mrs. Forsyth as saying “I don’t know how | came by the idea, but | remember
remarking to a friend that it seemed as though the only thing in this country not yet integrated was
the Southern, white prep schools and that I’d sure like to take a crack at it.” ° Her son had attended
a Northern boarding school with students of both races and Mrs. Forsyth felt strongly that
integrating the southern prep schools could begin to equalize opportunity beyond the white elite
and would help chip away ingrained bigotry. The Stouffer Foundation placed students at roughly
ten schools in the first year of the program, performing a much-needed service by connecting
black students with the formerly all-white schools.°

The board of Asheville School was initially reluctant to accept students recruited by an outside
group, but by 1967, it had decided to work with the foundation. That spring, anticipating the fall
enrollment of Stouffer scholars, the board directed Headmaster Tyrer to remind parents of the
school’s nondiscrimination policy “in order to avoid any possible disappointments or
misunderstandings.”* Three Stouffer scholars, Oliver Gilbert (Gil) Prince of Atlanta and James
Alfred (Al) McDonald and John F. Dupree of Fayetteville, entered Asheville School in the third
form, or ninth grade, in the fall of 1967. Prince and McDonald graduated in 1971; Prince earned
honors as valedictorian. In his valedictory address, he alluded to both the sheltered nature and the
exclusivity of campus life in his own personal experience with the school’s character. “I am
leaving a world at Asheville School that is confusing: it is ridiculously unreal, but at the same time
it is so poignantly realistic that it is frightening.”*?

By this time, there was a distinct feeling that the school was blossoming into a hew version of
itself. Tom Daley, that year’s salutatorian, expressed the student body’s desire to be of the world

report to trustees, Ogden and Arborgast, 70; John L. Tyrer to Spencer McCallie, Headmaster, McCallie
School, Chattanooga, September 2, 1966, in Stouffer Foundation Correspondence 1966 folder. No
information was located outlining admissions standards of the period.

9 Forsyth quoted in “Southerner Aids 140 Black Students,” Ebony, December 1975, clipping in the Stouffer
Files, Asheville School Archives.

19 1pid.

1 Minutes of the Asheville School Board Meeting of April 22, 1967, in the bound volume of Board Minutes
October 1964 through October 1972, Asheville School Archives.

12 Tom Marberger, “The End of the Old Order,” Achievement (Spring 2016), 26-36.
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and not separated from it in the bubble of campus. His speech is quoted in alumnus Tom
Marberger’s 2016 article “The End of the Old Order,” published in Achievement, the school’s
magazine.

“ | believe that one of the most important accomplishments of our class is that we

have helped bring about the demise of the old Asheville School and have

initiated the work of the new school. We are the turning point at which the bitter

negativism of the past three classes at the failure of the school to catch up with

the present fades, and at which a new optimism, born of hope and understanding,

has begun to pervade the school.” *®

Tyrer agreed that the school was changing, stating in a letter to Ann Forsyth in 1970 that
“Asheville School, happily, is a much different school as a result of the inclusion in our student
body of these outstanding young black boys.”4

Minority students, however, had more candid assessments of the program, many of which were
expressed years later. Tyrer issued a questionnaire in 1994 to the school’s Stouffer Foundation
students, perhaps in anticipation of the twentieth anniversary of the school’s integration. While
grateful for the opportunity and the financial support, minority students recalled incidents of
abuse, stereotyping, and ridicule from white classmates, parents, and some of the faculty. One of
the first three African American students, Frank Dupree, did not return after his ninth-grade year;
he experienced physical abuse during his year at Asheville School. Given Tyrer’s sunny
assessment of integration at Asheville School, many of these transgressions must have gone on
without his knowledge.*®

The transformation of Asheville School from an exclusive enclave for the sons of the established
and the wealthy into a school that accepts boys and girls, boarders and day students, and students
of diverse backgrounds took time. Tyrer’s overseeing of integration in 1967 was a significant step,
but the process continued with the acceptance of girls in the fall of 1972. Girls initially attended as
day students only; female boarders were first accepted in 1986 and a girl’s dormitory, Kehaya
House, built in 1990. Tyrer also oversaw a campus master planning process and subsequent
significant upgrade of facilities, adding the athletic center that enhanced the sports program and
turning the old gym and pool building into a theater, art department, and music rooms. Tyrer
remained headmaster until 1992.

The school has seen two more headmasters since Tyrer’s tenure, William Peebles, headmaster
from 1992 until 2002 and Archibald Montgomery since 2002. Since 2000 and under a new campus

13 i
Ibid.

14 John L. Tyrer to Ann Forsyth, September 29, 1970, Stouffer Foundation Files, Asheville School

Avrchives,

15 0n minority student assessments of their time at the school, see responses to “A Questionnaire for
Stouffer Scholars,” Stouffer Foundation Files, Asheville School Archives; Levin, 112.
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master plan, a focus to house more faculty resulted in construction of a new street lined with
duplexes and single-family dwellings. The Paulson Outdoor Center, which includes a log cabin
and sheltered climbing wall, represents the continued importance of the mountaineering program
started in the 1960s.°

16 Billy Peebles, “Campus News: Two New Faculty Homes Built (Two More in the Works),” Achievement
(Spring 2001), 6; “Mountaineering” page www.ashevilleschool.org.
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Photographs
The following information applies to all nomination photographs.

Name of Property: Asheville School (Additional Documentation)
City: Asheville

County: Buncombe County

State: North Carolina

Photographer: Cynthia de Miranda

Date Photographed: December 13, 2016

Location of digital images on CD: NC HPO, Raleigh, NC

Memorial Hall fagade, view to NE
Memorial Hall rear elevation, view to SW
Memorial Hall northwest elevation, view to SW
Memorial Hall reading room interior, view to NW
Rogers Memorial Athletic Center, southeast side and rear elevations, view to N
Paulson Outdoor Center and Log Cabin, view to SW
Mary Wall Climbing Wall, view to NE
Coal burner shed, view NE
Laura House and Karen House Duplex and Ron Bromley and Dell Bromley Duplex, view to NW
. Johnson House, view to E
. Maintenance Building and Maintenance Garage, view to NE
. Shed, view to E
. Prefabricated Garage, view to N
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National Register of Historic Places
Memo to File

Correspondence

The Correspondence consists of communications from (and possibly to) the nominating authority, notes
from the staff of the National Register of Historic Places, and/or other material the National Register of
Historic Places received associated with the property.

Correspondence may also include information from other sources, drafts of the nomination, letters of
support or objection, memorandums, and ephemera which document the efforts to recognize the
property.



UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR
NATIONAL PARK SERVICE

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
EVALUATION/RETURN SHEET

REQUESTED ACTION: NOMINATION

PROPERTY Asheville School
NAME :

MULTIPLE
NAME :

STATE & COUNTY: NORTH CAROLINA, Buncombe

DATE RECEIVED: 4/29/96 DATE OF PENDING LIST: 5/14/96
DATE OF 16TH DAY: 5/30/96 DATE OF 45TH DAY: 6/13/96

DATE OF WEEKLY LIST:
REFERENCE NUMBER: 96000614
NOMINATOR: STATE

REASONS FOR REVIEW:

APPEAL,: N DATA PROBLEM: N LANDSCAPE: N LESS THAN 50 YEARS:
OTHER: N PDIL: N PERIOD: N PROGRAM UNAPPROVED:
REQUEST: N SAMPLE: N SLR DRAFT: N NATIONAL:
(6(0) WAIVER: N
ACCEPT RETURN REJECT DATE
ABSTRACT/SUMMARY COMMENTS:
Entered in the
National Register
RECOM. /CRITERIA
REVIEWER DISCIPLINE

TELEPHONE DATE

DOCUMENTATION see attached comments Y/N see attached SLR Y/N

N
N
N



North Carolina Department of Cultural Resources

James B. Hunt Jr., Governor Division of Archives and }!istory
Betty Ray McCain, Secretary Jeffrey J. Crow, Director

April 9, 1996 RECEIVED 2280

Carol Shull, Keeper APR 7 >
National Register of Historic Places 9 19%
National Park Service

U.S. Department of the Interior q%&LO;kEISTOPIC PLACES

Post Office Box 37127

Washington, D.C. 20013-7127

Re: Asheville School, Asheville, Buncombe County
Dear Ms. Shull:

Enclosed is the nomination for the above-referenced property to be listed in
the National Register of Historic Places.

We trust you will find the nomination to be in order. If you have any ques-
tions, please contact Linda Harris Edmisten at 919/733-6545.

Sincerely,

G

Jeffrey J. Crow
State Historic Preservation Officer

JJC/ant

Enclosures

109 East Jones Street * Raleigh, North Carolina 27601-2807 @



UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR
NATIONAL PARK SERVICE

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
EVALUATION/RETURN SHEET

Requested Action: Addit:onal ‘IkI)“ocun'ki‘éyﬁ'tétidh

Property Name: iAshevi"e School

Multiple Name:

State & County: NORTH CARCL!NA, Bﬁnébmbe

Date Received: Date of Pending List:  Date of 16th Day: Date of 45th Day: Date of Weekly List:
11/26/2018 12/10/2018 12/26/2018 1/10/201¢9

Reference number:; éADQSSObéM

Noeminator:

Reason For Review:

X___ Accept Return Reject 12/19/2018  Date

Recommendation/ ?Accept additional documentation

Criteria
Reviewer Jim Gabbert Discipline  Historian
Telephone {202)354-2275 ~ Date

DOCUMENTATION: see attached comments : No see aftached SLR : No

If a nomination is returned to the nomination authority, the nomination is no longer under consideration by the
National Park Service.



North Carolina Department of Natural and Cultural Resources

State Historic Preservation Office

Ramona M. Bartos, Administrator
Governor Roy Cooper

Office of Archives and History
Secretary Susi H. Hamnilton

Deputy Secretary Kevin Cherry

" November 19,2018

Joy Beasley, Keeper

National Register of Historic Places
National Park Service

U.S. Department of the Interior
1849 C Street NW, Mail Stop 7228
Washington, DC 20240

Re:  Bethlehem Baptist Church — Hertford County
Cleveland School — Rowan County
College Heights Historic District — Durham County
Madison-Derr Iron Furnace — Lincoln County
Stamey Company Store — Cleveland County
West Fork Pigeon River Pratt Truss Bridge — Haywood County
Asheville School (Additional Documentation) — Buncombe County
Clinton Commercial Historic District (Additional Documentation) — Sampson County
The Meadows (Boundary Decrease) — Henderson County

Dear Ms. Beasley:

Enclosed are the nominations for the above-referenced properties to be listed in the National Register of
Historic Places. All of the nominations are full digital submissions. The enclosed disks each contain the
true and correct copy of their above-referenced nomination. The North Carolina State Historic Preservation
Office received only one notarized owner objection for the College Heights Historic District (Durham

County, NC) nomination. We included a digitized copy of that correspondence on the disk with the PDF of
the College Heights nomination.

We trust you will find the nominations to be in order. If you have any questions, please contact our
National Register Coordinator, Jenn Brosz, at (919) 814-6587, or jenn.brosz@ncdcr.gov.

Sincerely,

Dr. Kevin Cherry
State Historic Preservation Officer

KC/jrb: enclosures

Location: 109 East Jones Street, Raleigh NC 27601  Mailing Address: 4617 Mail Service Center, Raleigh NC 27699-4617 Telephone/Fax: (919) 807-6570/807-6599
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